
 

 
 

 

 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
Date Monday 16 January 2023 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement. 
 
 
1. Apologies   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2022 (Pages 3 - 12) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties   

6. Proposed Oral Health Promotion Strategy County Durham - 
Report and presentation by Amanda Healy, Director of Public 
Health County Durham (Pages 13 - 34) 

7. Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 - Report and 
presentation by Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County 
Durham (Pages 35 - 72) 

8. Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2022 - Joint Report of 
the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and 
the Director of Public Health (Pages 73 - 120) 

9. Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022 - Report and 
presentation of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services (Pages 121 - 160) 



10. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 

  County Hall 
  Durham 
  6 January 2023 

 
 
To: The Members of the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Councillor P Jopling (Chair) 
Councillor J Howey (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors V Andrews, C Bell, R Charlton-Lainé, I Cochrane, R Crute, 
K Earley, O Gunn, D Haney, J Higgins, L A Holmes, L Hovvels, C Kay, 
C Lines, C Martin, S Quinn, K Robson, A Savory, M Simmons and T Stubbs 
 
Co-opted Members: Mrs R Gott and Ms A Stobbart 
 
Co-opted Employees/Officers: Healthwatch County Durham 
 
 

Contact:  Joanne McCall Tel: 03000 269701 

 
 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
At a meeting of Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham on Monday 21 
November 2022 at 9.30 am 
 
 
Present 
 

Councillor P Jopling (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee 

Councillors J Howey, V Andrews, R Crute, K Earley, O Gunn, J Higgins, L Hovvels, 
C Martin, S Quinn, M Simmons and T Stubbs 
 
Co-opted Members 

Mrs R Gott and Ms A Stobbart 
 
Co-opted Employees/Officers  
Project Lead G McGee, Healthwatch County Durham 
 

1 Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors I Cochrane, L Holmes, C 
Kay and A Savory.  
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
There were no substitute members.  
 

3 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 3 October 2022 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the chair.  
 
Matters Arising 
 
The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer advised that further to the question 
raised at the previous meeting by co-opted member A Stoddart on the topic of 
vaping, an informal session on smoking cessation and tobacco was to be held on 
16 December 2022.  
 

4 Declarations  
 
There were no declarations of interest.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

5 Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
 
There were no items from co-opted members or interested parties.  
 

6 North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System  
 
The Committee received a presentation by S Burns, Director of Place (County 
Durham), North East and North Cumbria ICS and Central Integrated Care Board 
which provided members with an update on the Integrated Care System (for copy 
see file of minutes).  
 
An Integrated Care System (ICS) includes all of the organisations responsible for 
public health and wellbeing working together to plan and deliver services for 
communities. The ICS is not an organisation, it works through the following two 
bodies:  
 

1. Integrated Care Board (ICB) – a new statutory NHS organisation that will 
take on the responsibilities of the eight Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and some of the functions held by NHS England. The ICB will also 
work at ‘place level’ in each of the 13 local authority areas with a range of 
partners;  
 

2. Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) – a joint committee of the ICB, and the 13 
local authorities responsible for developing an integrated care strategy for 
the region. 

 
Councillor Earley highlighted some of the issues of concern amongst residents 
including wait times at accident and emergency (A&E) and delayed discharge and 
asked whether the ICB could help to address these concerns. The Director of 
Place confirmed that developing a new A&E department was a priority for the 
University Hospital of North Durham, but that national funding was required to do 
so. S Jacques, Chief Executive of County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust (CDDFT) confirmed that the ICB had recognised the issues at the A&E 
department and were treating this as a priority.  
 
In response to concerns expressed by Councillor Earley regarding delayed 
discharge, the Director of Place noted that whilst there was no simple solution, 
Place would continue to manage the concern and further discussions would take 
place with the relevant teams.  
 
Councillor Gunn noted that whilst some residents praised the services of the NHS, 
a lot of residents lacked confidence in the system and social media often 
emphasised the areas for concern. She stressed that there needed to be a focus 
on restoring the confidence that had been lost by residents and that 
communication was key in doing so. The Director of Place advised that a plan 

Page 4



which had been informed by residents had been developed by the former CCGs, 
she confirmed the ICB were now responsible for the plan and that the concerns 
and views of residents would continue to be heard and carried forward. She 
highlighted the challenges that the NHS faced, particularly following the COVID-19 
pandemic, and explained it would take some time for the service to fully recover.   
 
Councillor Quinn expressed concern regarding wait times for A&E and the 
damaging effect that social media had on the NHS. She gave examples of poor 
communication from hospitals when patients were discharged to nursing homes 
and stressed that the issues with communication needed to be addressed urgently. 
The Director of Place agreed that communication was vital and confirmed that a 
member of the ICB would contact Councillor Quinn outside of the meeting to 
discuss her concerns further.  
 
In terms of dentistry, Councillor Quinn emphasised the difficulties residents were 
experiencing booking appointments and that this had led to residents presenting at 
A&E. She felt that dentistry, instead of advancing forward, was in her opinion going 
backwards. She also noted the importance of pharmacies, and that people must be 
re-educated to contact pharmacies in the first instance.  
 
Co-opted member R Gott gave an example of delayed discharge due to a patient 
waiting for medication and stated there was no joined up working between the 
different teams, particularly the teams for mental health and physical health. She 
also noted that the presentation the Committee had received did not include any 
information on public involvement. The Director of Place clarified that residents’ 
concerns and views had informed the plan that had been initially developed by the 
CCGs and it was important for the ICB to continue to get the views and 
experiences from residents to further enhance the plan.  
 
Councillor Howey asked given the high levels of health deprivation and existing 
health inequalities within County Durham, how can the Committee be assured that 
Durham will receive its fair and required share of funding it has previously been 
allocated across health and social care. The Director of Place referred to the 
upcoming presentation on the North East and North Cumbria Draft Integrated Care 
Strategy and noted that it included the Core20PLUS5 approach which is designed 
to support ICSs to drive targeted action in healthcare inequalities improvement. 
She noted that funding had already been targeted at areas of deprivation, and 
although this had caused some controversy, it helped to reduce inequalities. 
Councillor Howey expressed concern that large amounts of funding could be given 
to the bigger hospitals.  
 
The Chair noted County Durham had an excellent track record for health and social 
care integration including joint NHS and Local Government officer appointments, 
integrated team working and pooled budgets and asked if this good practice would 
be retained and enhanced within County Durham and stated that all want the best 
for their own area. M Laing, Director of Integrated Community Services clarified 

Page 5



that this underpinned the report that was submitted to Cabinet in September 2022 
and included information on acute commissioning and mental health 
commissioning. He explained the members of the group confirming they were 
responsible for overseeing the work and that additional appointments were being 
made. He noted that focus was on services that made a real difference to 
residents, and that this helped bring services closer together. He advised the Trust 
was shared with Darlington and highlighted the good work that had recently been 
done with them.   
 
Councillor Hovvels was pleased to hear about the positive work with Darlington as 
some residents in County Durham often travelled to Darlington hospital for 
appointments and procedures. In terms of care and challenges with the workforce, 
she gave an example of some residents that no longer received their early morning 
care and that families were providing this care instead, demonstrating the current 
pressures on the NHS and that the pressure had the potential to impact on staff 
mental health. The Director of Place accepted that workforce challenges were a 
national problem but gave assurances that strong relationships existed between 
the ICB, health and social care, and independent providers, and that all were 
working together to find a solution.  
  
Councillor Higgins commented that in his opinion, patients received poorer service 
from the larger hospitals. He stated that some of his residents felt the NHS system 
was broken when expressing their difficulties in making GP appointments. He 
expressed further concern with the social care team and his frustration that the 
team had only one contact telephone number. The Chair asked if Councillor 
Higgins had a question to ask the Director of Place. Councillor Higgins advised the 
Chair that he did not have a question but that he wanted to voice the concerns of 
his residents. The Chair clarified that she did not want stop Councillor Higgins from 
asking a question but suggested that any further concerns he wanted to raise be e-
mailed to the Director of Place. Councillor Higgins felt that he had not been given 
sufficient time to raise his points fully and confirmed his intention to leave the 
meeting if he was unable to voice the concerns of his residents. Councillor Gunn 
and Councillor Crute supported Councillor Higgins viewpoint.  
 
Councillors Crute, Gunn, Higgins and Hovvels left the meeting at 10.20 am.  
 
Councillor Stubbs whilst appreciating the positives of the ICB, noted it was a costly 
model and requested further information regarding costs. The Director of Place 
explained that there were previously eight CCGs and that these had been replaced 
with one organisation that served the whole of the North East area. She offered to 
seek the comparative costs from the ICB.   
 
The Committee received a further presentation by S Burns, Director of Place 
(County Durham), North East and North Cumbria ICS and Central Integrated Care 
Board which provided members with information on the North East and North 
Cumbria Draft Integrated Care Strategy (for copy see file of minutes).  

Page 6



 
The Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) is a statutory committee, established by the 
NHS and local government as equal partners, and involving partner organisations 
and stakeholders and forms part of the arrangements for the ICS. Each ICP is 
required to develop an integrated care strategy covering the whole ICP population 
by December 2022. The structure of the draft strategy focusses on the following 
areas: 
 

 Vision, Goals and Enablers  

 Building on Assets and the Case for Change  

 Longer, Healthier Life Expectancy and Fairer Outcomes  

 Health and Care Services and Enablers  

 Involvement and Delivering the Strategy 
 
Councillor Quinn asked if the draft strategy should include information on COVID-
19 as many people were suffering from long covid and some had life-long 
conditions. The Director of Place stated this feedback was helpful and would be 
considered.  
  
Councillor Andrews referred to the statement ‘a skilled, sufficient, compassionate 
and empowered workforce’ and noted the shortage of professional staff and the 
number of years that were involved for professionals to be fully qualified. She 
asked how this was being managed and whether the ICB was working with 
universities to help with this. The Director of Place confirmed that the ICB worked 
closely with Health Education England to plan, recruit, educate and train the 
workforce and explained there were opportunities for hybrid roles across health 
and social care which were more attractive jobs for some people. Councillor 
Andrews asked if additional funding was planned. The Director of Place clarified 
that unfortunately there were no plans for additional funding and that current 
funding would have to be prioritised accordingly.   
 
Councillor Howey asked if the ICB were to reform any departments within the NHS 
to avoid wastage with staff. The Director of Place advised that the ICS needed to 
be made aware of any issues where staff were not receiving their full allocation of 
work.  
 
Councillor Earley asked if there was anything that could be done to attract more 
GPs to work in County Durham and if more investment was needed to be put into 
practices. The Director of Place advised that there was a range of schemes to help 
encourage GPs to work in County Durham and included the GP Career Start 
Scheme. She confirmed that the number of GPs in County Durham was more than 
other Local Authority areas but that one of the problems was partnership working 
explaining that support was currently being given to single practices to help them 
work together and pool their resources. She further noted the Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) which enabled practices to recruit a wide range 
of staff.  

Page 7



 
The Chair asked if it was possible to obtain a directory of key contacts within the 
ICS/ICB across service disciplines and including commissioning responsibilities. 
The Director of Place agreed that this information could be provided.  
 
Resolved 
 
That the presentations be noted and the comments raised by members be 
submitted as the formal consultation response from the AWHOSC to the draft 
Integrated Care Strategy.  
 

7 Winter Planning 2022/23  
 
The Committee received a presentation by S Jacques Chief Executive of County 
Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) which provided members with 
information on Winter Planning (for copy see file of minutes).  
 
The Chief Executive CDDFT advised that partners were working together to 
prepare for the winter. She noted the NHS were currently in a period of sustained 
demand and that public health projections suggest future challenges and stressed 
it was important that all the system worked well and worked together.  Members 
were informed that the Trust was currently at OPEL Level 4, the highest level of 
escalation.  
 
The Chair commented it was positive to hear how well local authorities were 
working together to reduce pressures on services. She highlighted the articles that 
had appeared in the media recently regarding delayed discharges and that this 
was due to care packages not being in place on time. The Chief Executive CDDFT 
confirmed that the service was in the process of creating more community beds in 
Sedgefield and Chester-le-Street hospitals to ease some of the current pressures 
and their focus was to ensure hospitals continued to work together to alleviate the 
pressures.   
 
Councillor Martin echoed the concerns that the Chair had raised regarding delayed 
discharge and acknowledged how well the NHS had worked together since the 
COVID-19 pandemic. He stated that failure of the NHS was closer than it had ever 
been previously and asked how likely the system was to fail and if there was a plan 
in place for this. The Chief Executive CDDFT explained that it was unlikely that all 
services would be in that situation at the same time but if failure did occur, she 
confirmed elective surgery would cease. She stressed that working together was 
key to suppress pressure and to minimise impact on services. She advised that 
there was an area of land at the University Hospital of North Durham that was 
currently being developed before the implementation of the new A&E department 
and that this was in addition to a large portacabin that was planned to come to 
Durham in Quarter four. She explained that the NHS were working strategically 
and had both short-term plans in place in addition to a longer-term strategy and 

Page 8



vision and believed this put the service in a good place and equipped them for 
future events. 
 
Councillor Martin observed that the Chief Executive CDDFT seemed reassured 
that the NHS would not collapse this winter. The Chief Executive CDDFT pointed 
out that if an unexpected event occurred like the COVID-19 pandemic then this 
could not be guaranteed but clarified that any impact would be on elective care.  
 
M Laing, Director of Integrated Community Services assured the Committee that 
dynamic management was in place explaining that the hospital discharge team met 
with the relevant teams including social care at 8.30am each day. He explained 
that funding of £2.3m had been secured for County Durham and the ICS must 
report how the funding is to be spent. The Chair asked if the funding was enough 
to make a real difference. The Director of Integrated Community Services noted 
that although additional money was always welcome, that services working well 
together was more important and effective.  
 
Councillor Quinn reassured the Committee that there was a wide range of care 
available for patients once discharged from hospital and included the care connect 
service. She also advised that if a patient was admitted to a nursing home that this 
was not always their permanent residence, as the prime objective was to build 
patients confidence so that they could return to their home when well enough to do 
so.  
 
In response to a question from Councillor Howey expressing concerns regarding 
large hospitals, the Chief Executive CDDFT explained the benefits of the larger 
hospitals noting that during the COVID-19 pandemic, main acute sites were 
available for patients to be assessed and the sites allowed multiple professionals to 
be present. She noted hospitals within County Durham coped better during the 
COVID-19 pandemic in comparison to other areas.  
 
Councillor Howey gave an example of patients who had to request multiple 
referrals through their GPs to see the same professional as seen previously. She 
expressed her frustration with the referral process and asked whether this 
generated any money. The Chief Executive CDDFT clarified that staff were on 
block contracts and therefore no money could be generated from the referral 
process.  
 
Councillor Earley noted that although funding had been secured this year, it may 
not be received in future years and asked if Members could do anything to support 
this. The Director of Integrated Community Services advised that at a cabinet level, 
it was essential to support working together on integration and to recognise good 
practice and reminded the Committee that a large amount of work was currently 
taking place within individuals own homes. At a national level, he emphasised the 
importance of providing feedback to demonstrate how the funding had been used 

Page 9



and to showcase good practice.  The Chief Executive CDDFT stressed it was vital 
that a strong case be made for County Durham.  
 
Co-opted member A Stobbart asked if the NHS were doing enough work around 
prevention of road traffic accidents. The Chief Executive CDDFT confirmed that 
procedures were in place to protect public highways and paths to keep people 
safe. She noted that County Durham was proactive with regards to digital 
messages on roads which was key to encourage road users to drive carefully. She 
explained that although road traffic accidents had increased recently, the data was 
proportionate to the number of vehicles on the road, pointing out that less vehicles 
were on the road during the COVID-19 pandemic. With regards to adverse 
weather, the Chief Executive CDDFT advised that a lot was learned from Storm 
Arwen and the difficulties this presented to individuals and explained that the winter 
plan included advice on how residents could equip themselves in their own homes. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the presentation be noted.   
 

8 CQC Inspection Report  
 
The Committee received a presentation by P Scott, Managing Director Tees Esk 
and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust and S Gill, General Manager for Adult 
Learning Disability Services which provided members with information on the CQC 
report into Adult Learning Disabilities inpatient services across Durham Tees 
Valley and a plan for improvement work (for copy see file of minutes).  
 
The Adult Learning Disabilities inpatient services are provided from two sites in 
Durham Tees Valley which are Bankfields Court in Middlesbrough and Lanchester 
Road Hospital in Durham. The service is commissioned to provide assessment or 
medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 
treatment of disease, disorder, or injury. The presentation summarised the CQC 
report and the findings and also described the improvement journey since the 
inspection along with the next steps for the service.  
 
Co-opted member R Gott advised that she had previously worked in mental health 
and that a significant part of the training was focussed on observation. Considering 
this, she expressed concern regarding the inconsistency of staff and that some 
may not recognise the trigger symptoms patients displayed. She emphasised the 
good work the service was doing but, in her opinion, if staff were not consistent, 
she could not see how the service could improve. The General Manager stated 
that these were critical points and that consistent staff had been fundamental for 
past success of the service and advised that agency staff had not been used until 
the COVID-19 pandemic. The Managing Director clarified that when agency staff 
were required, the service endeavoured to use the same staff to ensure 
consistency with patients. The General Manager noted the challenges with staff 

Page 10



retention due to the difficult nature of the roles and that alternative jobs for similar 
salaries were available and were not as challenging but stressed that focus of the 
service was always on the quality of care. Co-opted member R Gott believed that 
continuity of staff avoided psychiatric emergencies.  
 
Councillor Stubbs highlighted the outcome of the previous CQC report in 2019 had 
been good and questioned how the service had become inadequate in the short 
space of time. He noted the control measures that had been put in place and 
asked if these would enable the service to recognise any future issues early. The 
Managing Director confirmed that the service had learned a great deal from the 
recent inspection and had a clearer understanding of the quality of the care 
patients were receiving daily and advised that the Fundamental Standards Group 
also met three times per week to review standards. The General Manager 
confirmed that the outcome of the inspection had provided a good framework to 
engage with staff and to help staff understand the expectation of the service.   
 
Councillor Howey asked whether any assurances could be given that the service 
would not be in this position again. She also suggested that staff salaries be 
increased as if agency staff were required, they would come at a higher cost, and 
higher paid salaries could help with staff retention. The General Manager 
commented that retaining the workforce continued to be a priority and that different 
options were currently being considered in the recruitment strategy. In response to 
a further question from Councillor Howey, the General Manager advised that it was 
important for staff to have a voice and stated that the service held staff 
engagement sessions.  
 
The Managing Director emphasised that the CQC Inspection Report did not reflect 
what Members would see if they visited the sites at Bankfields Court and 
Lanchester Road hospital and the General Manager advised that all Members 
were welcome to visit the sites.   
 
Councillor Earley asked if there could be a future item on the agenda to update the 
Committee on the progress of recovery. The Chair confirmed that the item would 
come back to the Committee so that an update on progress could be provided.  
 
Resolved 
 
That a further agenda item is scheduled for the Adults, Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to provide members with an update on the 
progress of the Adult Learning Disabilities inpatient services across Durham Tees 
Valley.  
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee  

 16 January 2023 

Proposed Oral Health Promotion 

Strategy County Durham 

   

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The previous oral health strategy was in place from 2016-2019, the 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic halted implementing a new Oral 
Health Strategy until now. 

2 To inform OSC on the feedback following the consultation process and 
provide an opportunity for final comments on the draft strategy 2023-
2028 before progressing to Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) in 
March 2023.  

Executive summary 

3 Good oral health contributes to overall health and wellbeing. Oral health 
is an important public health concern because oral diseases have a 
significant impact on society and individuals. 

4 Tooth decay is the most common oral disease affecting children and 
young people in England, yet it is preventable.  The relationship 
between deprivation and poorer oral health is now well established.   
There is evidence for social gradients in the prevalence of dental decay, 
tooth loss, oral cancer, oral health related quality of life and service use 

5 Although oral health is improving in England, the oral health survey of 5 
year olds in 2019 showed  26.8% of 5 year olds in County Durham had 
obvious tooth decay .   

6 A proportion of these children have serious dental disease which 
requires admission to hospital for tooth removal under general 
anaesthetic.  The extraction of decayed teeth has become the most 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



common reason for hospital admission of under-18-year-olds in 
England. 

7 There are some groups at high risk of dental disease, these include 
older people in care homes, people with learning disabilities, SEN 
children.  The oral health strategy aims to improve oral health for all 
residents, but with a focus on our vulnerable groups. 

8 A number of community based interventions are available to consider, 
and a robust evidence base is important to ensure that interventions 
deliver intended outcomes.  We have only considered interventions 
which are supported by research evidence to give good oral health 
outcomes eg supervised toothbrushing schemes.  There are also action 
points which link to already existing health and well being programmes 
eg advice given by health visitors and in schools. 

9 Primary care dental services and the community specialist dental 
service are currently commissioned directly by NHS England and local 
authorities are statutorily required to provide or commission oral health 
promotion programmes to improve the health of the local population.  

10 We acknowledge the current problems with access to primary care 
dental services.  Prevention of dental disease is key, especially given 
the current challenges in NHS primary dental care, therefore, a range of 
evidence based preventive interventions are included in the strategy. 

11 The strategy relies on working with our communities and partner 
organisations to promote oral health and contribute towards maintaining 
good oral health throughout the life course.  We hope to achieve an oral 
health in all policies approach which will reenforce oral health as an 
integral part of general health and wellbeing. 

 

Recommendation(s) 

12 Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
recommended to: 

(a) Provide final comments on the Oral Health Promotion Strategy 
2023-2028 

  

Page 14



Background 

13 Oral health is an important public health concern because oral diseases 
have a significant impact on society and individuals.  Oral health is a 
key indicator of overall health, well-being and quality of life.  Poor oral 
health can lead to pain and discomfort, sleepless nights, loss of function 
and self-esteem, and in turn disrupt family life. 

14 Several key indicators of oral health are monitored by the Office for 
Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) and these provide a picture 
of oral health in County Durham.  In 2018/19 26.8% of 5 year olds in 
County Durham had obvious tooth decay.  Tooth decay can start earlier 
than age 5, particularly among at risk groups.  The survey data for 3 
year olds show that in 2020 in County Durham 11.5% of 3 year olds had 
visually obvious tooth decay.  This reinforces the need for early 
intervention to give children the best start in life. 

15 The relationship between deprivation and poorer oral health is now well 
established.   There is evidence for social gradients in the prevalence of 
dental decay, tooth loss, oral cancer, oral health related quality of life 
and service use. 

16 Inequalities in oral health are evident in the UK across the social 
spectrum and across the life course largely reflecting the socio-
economic inequalities that impact on general health. The COVID-19 
pandemic is likely to have widened these inequalities as well as having 
a direct impact on dental care provision. 

17 Dental access has been widely covered in the media over the recent 
months.  This is a national problem which has been building since the 
dental contract changed substantially in 2006.  Primary care dental 
services are currently commissioned directly by NHS England.  The 
problem has been compounded by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.  
This has resulted in significant challenges accessing an NHS dentist with 
many not accepting new patients.   

18 The dental workforce is struggling to meet demand.  Recovery from the 
pandemic has been slow and during this time some dentists have 
returned NHS contracts and instead started private practice.  This 
combination of factors has severely affected access to primary dental 
care. 

Oral Health Promotion Strategy 

19 Oral health data builds a picture of oral health in the County.  This 
allows us to determine which evidence based interventions are needed 
and where.  Consideration is given to demography and to vulnerable 
groups within our communities who are at high risk of dental disease eg 
those with learning difficulties. 

Page 15



20 The multi-agency Oral Health Steering Group has helped shape the 
strategy and action plan and have had the opportunity to comment and 
provide feedback at all stages of development.   

21 Working collaboratively with partner organisations and across relevant 
services is key to improving oral health for all residents of the County.  
The aim is to integrate oral health considerations into policymaking and 
focus on providing evidence based preventive interventions. 

22 Many oral health interventions and programmes eg supervised 
toothbrushing schemes were suspended during the pandemic and it is 
now important to re-establish these.  

23 The key actions set out ambitions for oral health promotion and oral 
health improvement focusing on preventive interventions and including 
oral health in all policies. 

Key Points of the strategy and actions  

24 A number of evidence based interventions are being considered to 
improve oral health across the County over the next 5 years 

25 Early intervention is key both in terms of prevention of disease but also 
for embedding good habits around oral hygiene and diet.  Therefore, 
there a number of interventions aimed at giving children the best start in 
life.  These include: 

(a) Training on oral health promotion given to front line practitioners 
e.g. health visitors, school nurses, to enable them to deliver 
consistent, up to date advice 

(b) Promoting  and supporting delivery of key oral health messages 
in primary and secondary schools 

(c) Supervised toothbrushing schemes in Early Years settings in the 
most deprived areas 

(d) Oral health training for social care staff eg foster carers 

26 For adults we will aim to equip frontline health care staff with the skills to 
provide brief intervention and signposting through a Make Every 
Contact Count approach. 

(a) We will also support national campaigns such as oral cancer 
month 

(b) We will work with NHSE to support residents in accessing primary 
dental care 

Page 16



 

27 The strategy includes specific actions for our vulnerable groups who are 
at high risk of poor oral health: 

(a) Aim to have oral health champions in residential care homes for 
older people and for people with learning disabilities 

(b) GRT Specialist nurses to receive OH training via CDDFT 

(c) Work specifically with special schools and those educated outside 
of mainstream and explore the needs of SEN families and how 
we can better support them 

Risk assessment 

28 There is concern that the current problem some residents face with 
access NHS dentistry may detract from gaining meaningful feedback 
during the consultation.  To ensure that should people raise concerns 
with access and highlight particular or personal problems with this, a 
‘dental message’ has been prepared in order to signpost people to NHS 
dental services.  This message has been forwarded to local NHS dental 
commissioners for approval. 

 

Water fluoridation note 

29 At a population level, water fluoridation is the most effective way of 
reducing inequalities, as it ensures that people in the most deprived 
areas receive fluoridated water.  Water fluoridation should be part of an 
overall oral health strategy.  Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic DCC was 
working towards varying the existing community water fluoridation 
scheme to allow more people to benefit from this intervention.  
However, the Health and Care Act 2022 has moved the responsibilities 
for initiating and varying schemes for water fluoridation from local 
authorities to the Secretary of State.   

   

Next Steps 

30 The feedback from the 7 week consultation period will collated and 
presented to relevant DCC senior management teams. 

31 The strategy and key actions will be amended where necessary to 
reflect information and views gathered during the consultation 

32 Submission of OH Strategy to HWBB in March 2023 

Page 17



 

 

Background papers 

 Draft Oral Health Strategy 

 OH Survey 

 

Other useful documents 

 Previous Cabinet reports / None 

 

Author(s) 

Lucy Devapal    Tel:  07960 347274 

  

Page 18



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

local authorities are statutorily required to provide or commission oral health 

promotion programmes to improve the health of the local population. 

Finance 

Commission programmes in place. No additional funding required to 

implement the oral health strategy at this point.  

Consultation 

7 weeks public consultation with a clear consultation plan in place. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An EIA will be undertaken as part of the strategy development.  

Climate Change 

The use of plastic toothbrushes and holders are considered and will be 

reviewed regularly as part of the early years supervised tooth brushing 

scheme. At present sustainable products are not available to provide the 

service.  

Human Rights 

No issues. 

Crime and Disorder 

No issues. 

Staffing 

No issues. 

Accommodation 

No issues. 

Risk 

Availability of NHS dental provision is limited at the moment with no resolution 

in the short term. Although this is commissioned by NHS England and not 

local authorities, this could impact on the feedback received for the 

consultation.  

Page 19



Procurement 

No issues. 

 

 

 

Page 20



Oral Health Promotion Strategy 
2023-2028

Draft

Michelle Baldwin
Public Health Strategic Manager DCC

Starting Well

P
age 21



Context

• Primary care dental services are currently commissioned directly by 
NHS England and local authorities are statutorily required to provide 
or commission oral health promotion programmes. The Health and 
Social Care Act (2012) 

• Previous strategy ended in 2019, but developing a new one was 
delayed due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 

• This all age strategy considers how we can contribute to improving 
oral health for all residents of the County

P
age 22



Considerations when developing the strategy

• Multi-disciplinary partners have worked together with representatives 
from  health education, office for health improvement and disparities 
(OHID), children's services, adults commissioning etc

• The strategy evidence based and reflects local need.

• Adds to existing work, for example best start in life breastfeeding and 
weaning programmes, or healthy food in schools and workplaces.

• Considers existing national and local strategies where there is a link with 
oral health.

• Outlines some of the challenges around primary care dental services and 
the impact of Covid-19.P

age 23



Key Points:

• Oral health is an important public health concern and can have a 
significant impact on society and individuals.

• Tooth decay is the most common oral disease affecting children and 
young people in England, yet it is preventable. 

• The extraction of decayed teeth has become the most common 
reason for hospital admission of under-18-year-olds in England.

• There is evidence for social gradients in the prevalence of dental 
decay, tooth loss, oral cancer, oral health related quality of life and 
service use

P
age 24



Oral health in County Durham

The National Dental Epidemiology Programme 2017/18 oral 
health survey of adults attending general dental practices in 
England found that in County Durham 26.8% of participants 
had untreated tooth decay with each having on average 1.8 
decayed teeth. 

Children

Adults

Vulnerable 
groups – at high 

risk of poor oral 
health

Older people
Gypsy Roma Traveller 
community
Children who are looked 
after
People with learning 
disabilities

P
age 25



What we should we be doing 
• Good tooth brushing with fluoride toothpaste at least twice per day 

for 2 minutes each time

• Eat a healthy diet, low in sugars 

• Stop smoking and limit alcohol consumption to reduce the risk of 

oral cancer

• Continue to support and encourage mothers to breastfeed

• Regular dental check-ups

P
age 26



How we aim to improve oral health 

• Consider other national and local strategies that reduces the risk for 
poor oral health e.g. tobacco, healthy weight, alcohol

• Work with communities and service providers to explore how to best 
implement any oral health improvement interventions, we will listen 
to and act on their feedback 

• We will support service providers in ensuring staff have the skills and 
knowledge required to improve oral health for service users

• We will build on existing health improvement programmes and aim to 
add oral health where necessary

• Develop a multi-agency workplan that promotes good oral health and 
prevention across the life course with particular focus on high risk 
groups to reduce inequalities P

age 27



Key Actions - Children

• Early intervention is key both in terms of prevention of disease but 
also for embedding good habits around oral hygiene and diet.  
Therefore, there a number of interventions aimed at giving children 
the best start in life.  These include

• Training on oral health promotion given to front line practitioners 

• Promoting  and supporting delivery of key oral health messages in 
primary and secondary schools

• Supervised toothbrushing schemes in Early Years settings in the 
most deprived areas

• Oral health training for foster carers

P
age 28



Key Actions - Adults

• For adults we will aim to equip frontline health care staff with the 
skills to provide brief intervention and signposting through a Make 
Every Contact Count approach

• Align or oral health work to national campaigns such as oral 
cancer month 

• We will work with NHSE to support residents in accessing 
primary dental care

• Oral health champions in residential care homes for older 
people and for people with learning disabilities

P
age 29



Key Actions – Vulnerable groups

• We recognise that some people are at a higher risk of poor oral 
health and we aim work with these groups to provide additional 
targeted support to help reduce these inequalities including:
• oral health champions in residential care homes for older people 

and for people with learning disabilities
• GRT Specialist nurses to receive OH training 
• Work with special schools and those educated outside of 

mainstream and explore the needs of SEN families and how we 
can better support them

• Work with housing providers to provide targeted support to 
those people who are homeless or rough sleeping

P
age 30



Water Fluoridation 

• At a population level, it is the most effective way of reducing inequalities, as it 
ensures that people in the most deprived areas receive fluoridated water.  

• Water fluoridation should be part of an overall oral health strategy.  

• The Health and Care Act 2022 has moved the responsibilities for initiating and 
varying schemes for water fluoridation from local authorities to the Secretary 
of State.  

• Information about water fluoridation has been referenced in the strategy 
although any actions for the local authority will be directed from the Secretary 
of State. 

P
age 31



Next Steps

• Review feedback from recent consultation for 7 weeks. 
(21.11.22 – 09.01.23) 

• The strategy and key actions will be amended where necessary 
to reflect information and views gathered during the consultation

• The final strategy will be presented to the Health and wellbeing 
board in March 2023. 

P
age 32



Recommendations

OSC are asked to:

1. Provide final feedback on the Oral health Promotion Strategy before 
progressing to HWBB. 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Adults, Wellbeing and Health  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

16 January 2023 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 

2022 

 

Report of Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult & Health 
Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Adult & Health Services 

Councillor Chris Hood, Portfolio holder for Adult & Health Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is for Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to receive the 2022 Annual Report of the 
Director of Public Health for County Durham (Appendix 2). 

Executive summary 

2 One of the statutory requirements of Directors of Public Health under 
the Health & Social Care Act 2012 is to produce an annual report about 
the health of the local population. In addition, the local authority has a 
duty to publish the report.   

3 The government has not specified what the annual report should 
contain and has made it clear that this is a decision for individual 
Directors of Public Health to determine. 

4 The County Durham Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 
focuses on the following: 

 Foreword by the Director of Public Health. 

 Health and wellbeing across County Durham. 

 Living with COVID-19. 

 Making smoking history. 

 Priorities (covering Healthier, Fairer, and Protected). 

 Update on recommendations from 2021.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 Conclusion. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
recommended to: 

(a) Receive the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022. 

 

  

Page 36



Background 

5 Section 73B(5) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the 
National Health Service Act 2006 to include the requirement that the 
Director of Public Health (DPH) for a local authority must prepare an 
annual report on the health of the people and that the local authority 
should publish the report.  

6 The government has not specified what the annual report should 
contain and has made it clear that this is a decision for individual 
Directors of Public Health to determine. 

7 In 2018 the Director of Public Health for County Durham set out a new 
vision for the public’s health in County Durham against seven strategic 
priorities. The following four annual reports (2018-2021) provided an in-
depth focus on specific actions against each priority. 

8 Over the last year the County Durham Public Health Strategic Plan has 
been reviewed and reshaped to align to three themed areas of work. 
These are:  

 Healthier: Having and promoting a healthier population (both 
physical health and mental wellbeing).  For example,  

o Improve mental health and emotional wellbeing  

o Improve levels of physical activity and healthy weight  

 Fairer: Improving health across the whole life course, access to 
good quality health services and those wider services that also 
have an impact on population health while reducing population 
health inequalities and inequities.  For example, 

o Work with partners to help reduce poverty and the impact 
of poverty and the cost of living crisis 

o Work with partners to contribute to inclusive economic 
growth 

 Protected: Protecting the health of our communities against 
communicable disease, domestic abuse, tobacco, drugs and 
alcohol that cause severe harm and plan for future emergencies.  
For example, 

o Reduce the harm caused through alcohol and drugs within 
our local communities 

o Respond to seasonal risks to health and ensure County 
Durham’s preparedness for winter 

Page 37



9 The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 provides an update 
on the Healthier, Fairer, and Protected themes of the Public Health 
Strategic Plan for 2021-2024. 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 

10 As part of the foreword to this year’s annual report the Director of Public 
Health introduces the concept of ‘building blocks’ of good health.  

11 These building blocks of good health, (how much money we have, the 
quality of the house we live in, the natural environment surrounding us, 
our access to transport, education and work) all impacts on our chances 
of living a long and healthy life.  It recognises that the impact of social 
and environmental conditions in which people are born, grow up and 
live with, do not give everyone an equal chance of living long and 
healthy lives.  Many of these have been adversely affected by covid-19 
and even greater attention and working as partners with our 
communities will be required to address the inequalities both within 
County Durham and between County Durham and the rest of England.  

12 Future annual reports will ensure these building blocks for good health 
remain at the heart of public health action. 

13 The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 provides an overview 
of the health and wellbeing of County Durham’s population and 
examples of how the approach to wellbeing is being implemented. 

14 The report provides an update on our COVID-19 response and the 
transition to living with COVID-19 This impact cannot be underestimated 
and also comes at a time when the cost of living is increasing for our 
residents too.  

15 This year’s report includes an in-depth focus on the progress to make 
smoking history in County Durham. Smoking remains the single largest 
cause of preventable deaths and one of the largest causes of health 
inequalities and remains a key priority for the health of our local 
residents. 

16 The report provides an update on the Healthier, Fairer, and Protected 
themes of the Public Health Strategic Plan for 2021-2024 and 
concludes with a section on previous recommendations and a 
conclusion.  

Main implications 

Legal 

Page 38



17 It is a statutory responsibility for the Director of Public Health in a local 
authority area to prepare an annual report on the health of the local 
population. 

Conclusion 

18 The conclusion re-iterates the fact that the public health team and the 
work of the team can only progress by working with others. 

Background papers 

 Previous DPH annual reports 

https://www.durhaminsight.info/director-of-public-health-reports/  

Other useful documents 

 None 

 

Author(s) 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health Amanda.healy@durham.gov.uk  

  

Page 39

https://www.durhaminsight.info/director-of-public-health-reports/
mailto:Amanda.healy@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Section 73B(5) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the National 
Health Service Act 2006 to include the requirement that the Director of Public 
Health for a local authority must prepare an annual report on the health of the 
people in the area of the local authority. 

Finance 

The publication of the report is funded by the ring-fenced public health grant.  

Consultation 

This is the independent report of the Director of Public Health (DPH) and is 
not subject to formal consultation. However, Public Health do engage and 
consult with partners in the development of the DPH Annual Report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Actions from this report are targeted to reduce the health inequalities. 

Climate Change 

No impact. 

Human Rights 

No impact. 

Crime and Disorder 

No impact. 

Staffing 

Staff time to produce the 2022 annual report. 

Accommodation 

No impact. 

Risk 

No impact. 

Procurement 

No impact but should inform council commissioning plans in relation to 

services that impact on the health of the population. 

Page 40



Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022

Building Healthier, Fairer 
and Protected Lives

Page 41



 

Acknowledgements
Many thanks to 

Michelle Baldwin – Public Health Strategic Manager

Julia Bates – Consultant in Public Health

Katie Bewick – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Sean Barry – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Julie Bradbrook – Partnerships Team Manager

Katie Dunstan-Smith – Public Health Intelligence Specialist

Joy Evans – Public Health Strategic Manager

Michael Fleming – Strategic Manager, Research and Intelligence

Diane Foster – Public Health Practitioner

Thelma Lambert – Regional Support Officer

Lisa Lynch – Public Health Programme Manager

Michelle Marley – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Bryn Morris-Hale – Public Health Intelligence Specialist

Hannah Murray-Leslie - Wellbeing Approach Implementation Officer

Helen Riddell – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Catherine Scott – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Jane Sunter – Public Health Strategic Manager

Rebecca Turner – Business Partner, Communications and Marketing

Marie Urwin – Public Health Practitioner

Kirsty Wilkinson – Public Health Strategic Manager

Lucy Wilkins – Public Health Practitioner

Glen Wilson – Consultant in Public Health

Partner organisations and everyone who contributed to a case study

Corporate Design Team, Durham County Council

2 3 

Contents
 

 Page

Foreword ................................................................................................................. 4

Health and wellbeing across County Durham  ....................................................... 6

Living with COVID-19  ........................................................................................... 14

Making smoking history  ....................................................................................... 18

Priorities  ............................................................................................................... 24

Update on recommendations from 2021  ............................................................. 28

Conclusion  ........................................................................................................... 30

P
age 42



4  

Amanda Healy 

Foreword

Welcome to my Annual Report for 2022, my fifth report as Director of  Public Health for 
County Durham. It is my role as Director of  Public Health to promote and protect the 
health and wellbeing of  people in County Durham, with this at the forefront of  public health 
practice and the wider systems we lead and support on. 

2022 has been a year of  transition as we began to move from responding to COVID-19 to 
living with COVID-19 as safely as possible, take stock of  the impact of  the pandemic and  
re-focus the public health priorities. These are all covered in the report with examples of  
how our local residents and staff  across all agencies have carried out this transition.

My annual report this year, as always, provides insight to the health and wellbeing of  our 
residents and reflects the work we are doing to support people in living longer, healthier 
lives. This includes a focus on tobacco and the need to focus our efforts on making smoking 
history in County Durham. 

We are living longer than ever before however this is not the same for everyone. The social 
and environmental conditions in which we are born, grow up and live with do not give us all 
an equal chance. How much money we have, the quality of  the house we live in, the natural 
environment surrounding us, our access to transport, education and work all impact on our 
chances of  living a long and healthy life. These are the ‘building blocks’ of  good health.

Data, intelligence, and the reported lived experiences of  our County Durham residents have 
highlighted the stark differences in health between some of  our communities across the 
county, many of  which existed even before the pandemic. We use the term ‘inequalities’ to 
talk about these differences. Some inequalities have worsened since the pandemic and, in 
this report, we also begin to highlight the wider impact the pandemic has had on widening 
inequalities. For example, in County Durham, children and young people may have been 
less likely than adults to contract the COVID-19 infection but have lost around 30% of  school 
sessions. During the pandemic, the numbers of  those children eligible for free school meals 
increased by 5.4%. Due to inequalities like these and others, we know it will be harder for 
some children to catch up. 

In some parts of  County Durham, these inequalities also mean that some people are dying 
much earlier than they should, from things that could be prevented. Even in those shortened 
lives, people are spending more time living with illness and disability which affect their 
quality of  lives. This is unfair and unjust. In refocussing on the building blocks for good 
health we can seek to address these inequalities.

People want to live for as long as they can, with the best quality of  life that they can. Good 
health is a foundation for living long and independent lives. In aiming to protect people’s 
health and wellbeing so they can live for as long as they can, support people to be healthier 
so they can live their years in the best health possible and work to make systems fairer so 
everyone, no matter who they are or where they live, has an equal chance of  living a long 
and healthy life. 

By working together to increase opportunity and choice for people, we can improve health, 
reduce inequalities and ensure no-one is left behind. Reducing inequalities is not easy and 
it requires sustained focus and a fundamental rethink on how we allocate our resources, 
funding, workforce and services. It needs the building blocks for good health. 

No work to improve public health can be achieved without working with others, our partners 
and most importantly our local communities. My role as Director of  Public Health is about 
working on behalf  of  local communities and the elected members who represent those 
communities. The report has many examples of  the work that is being carried out to make 
lives healthier, fairer and protected and I hope you find the report informative and a reminder 
of  how health and wellbeing underpins everyone’s life.

Amanda Healy
Director of  Public Health

 5

P
age 43



76 Health and wellbeing across County Durham Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

The impact of COVID-19 on our population 
The COVID-19 pandemic has undoubtedly had, and continues to have, a profound impact 
on the health and wellbeing of  residents of  County Durham. This year has, however, seen us 
move to the next phase of  the pandemic to ‘Living Safely with COVID-19’. Over the last year 
and beyond, the detailed direct and indirect effects of  the pandemic on the situation for 
our communities in County Durham have continually been examined and developed into a 
comprehensive knowledge base.

Children and young people have been less affected than other age groups by coronavirus infection 
itself, but have been disproportionately impacted by the social, educational and economic impacts of 
the pandemic

With significant disruption to schools

30%
of sessions lost due to COVID-19
(Autumn 20/Spring 21) 

20%
in demand projected 
for CYP Mental 
Health services over 
the next 5 years 

The proportion of children in County Durham 
eligible for free school meals has increased 

5.4%
during the pandemic

Older people are more likely to experience severe COVID-19 infection, hospitalisation and mortality 

8 in 10
people classified as Clinically Extremely Vulnerable were aged 65+

COVID-19 vaccination 
coverage >80% for those 
aged 50+ for first 3 doses 

91% of all COVID-19 
related deaths in 
County Durham aged 
65+

Developing insight and intelligence for County Durham 
Public Health projects and interventions are evidence-led. This means we use health data, 
health intelligence and wider partner data to inform and underpin our understanding of  
our local communities to help us plan and work with communities to improve health. This 
data and information is collated into a series of  Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNA). 
Where we can, we share this information publicly through Durham Insight  
(https://www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19/) and it includes;

• the current and future health and wellbeing needs of  local people

• the inequalities in our communities

• what is strong and good in our communities

Partners and communities also used this information to help strategic planning across the 
council and partnerships which helps informs the development and improvement of  local 
services.

We have refreshed our JSNA work programme in 2022 and the Durham Insight website 
continues to be developed and improved. In the coming year, we will be looking specifically 
at publishing assessments and recommendations on Healthy Ageing and Veterans Health 
and Wellbeing.

Where we live, our services and our communities
There are many challenges to health and wellbeing especially as we move towards living 
with COVID-19. County Durham has many assets that can support and protect the health 
of  our 530,000 residents. Moreover, throughout the pandemic communities have worked 
together and alongside us to both strengthen existing assets and develop new ones. Some 
of  these are set out below:

Where we live:

• 14,565 businesses

• 12 green flags for 
parks and open 
spaces

• 2 in 5 residents living 
in rural areas

• 12 miles of  coastline

• 150 miles or former 
railway path

• Durham world 
heritage site

Our Services:

• 223 early years and 
primary schools, 31 
secondary schools,  
4 colleges

• 9 enhanced 
mainstream schools 
and 11 special schools

• 1 university

• 15 council owned 
leisure centres

• 63 GP practices

• 124 pharmacies

Our Communities 
supporting each other:

• 411 sports clubs 
accessing support

• 59 active community 
champions

• Almost 2,000 
expressions of  interest 
to host Ukrainian 
refugees

• Around 115 active 
volunteer leaders in 
walking, running and 
cycling

• 600 people attending 
sessions ran by the 
Cree* network last year

• Over 3,000 VCS* 
organisations*A Cree is County Durham’s version of  Australia’s Men’s Shed. Crees aim to 

engage with those at risk of  suicide by tackling social isolation and self-harm 
through skill-sharing and informal learning to promote social interaction. 
Although Crees were originally aimed at men, some have developed for women 
and young people.

* VCS voluntary and community sector organisation.

 

P
age 44

https://www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19/


8 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

The health and wellbeing of our residents
Public Health aims to protect people’s health and wellbeing so they can live for as long as 
they can, and to support people to be healthier so they can live their years in the best health 
possible. So, how are we currently doing? 

The health and wellbeing of  the people in County Durham has improved over recent years 
but remains worse than the England average. Health inequalities remain persistent and 
pervasive. Levels of  deprivation are higher and life expectancy is lower than the England 
average. There is also inequality within County Durham for many measures (including life 
expectancy, childhood obesity and premature mortality for example). 

We want all people to have the best length of life and quality of life that they can
Girls and boys born in County Durham today can expect to live 81.2 years and 77.7 years 
respectively. This is significantly worse than the average life expectancy for England which 
is 83.1 years for girls and 79.4 years for boys. However, people are spending years living 
with illness and disability which affects the quality of  their lives. We want all people to have 
the best length of  life and the best quality of  life that they can. In County Durham healthy life 
expectancy is significantly shorter than the England average. Healthy life expectancy is the 
number of  years an individual can expect to live in good health, rather than with a disability or 
in poor health.  Locally for girls it is 59.9 years compared to 63.9 years for England. For boys 
the figures are 58.8 years locally and 63.1 years for England.

We want all people to live as long as they can
In County Durham the life expectancy for some girls and boys born today is much less than 
others. There are unfair and unjust inequalities which shorten life in some of  our communities. 

9

How we contribute to good health and wellbeing and improving life expectancy
Working together, there are things we can do to help address inequalities and increase the 
years people spend in good health. In line with our Public Health Strategic Plan, we have 
broken these things into three areas of  our work, Healthier, Fairer and Protected lives. As 
examples of  how we are doing in County Durham, we have chosen some health-related topics 
from each area and shown how our figures in County Durham compare with the England 
average (where that figure is Nationally available).

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

P
age 45



10 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Developing our Approach to Wellbeing
The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing as outlined in last year’s DPH report, is how 
we work together to put communities at the heart of  local decision making. The Approach 
to Wellbeing has developed over a period of  years. To help us build on the best elements 
of  this work, the approach was evaluated over three years by Teesside University and the 
findings published in April 2022. Key recommendations include: 

• Building on the Community Champions model, as an effective vehicle for 
implementing the Approach to Wellbeing

• Developing a combination of  training and other measures to place the approach at 
the heart of  our work

• Developing practical ways to support a clear understanding of  how Approach to 
Wellbeing can support better outcomes for communities 

• Creating consistent and standardised monitoring of  wellbeing within County Durham, 
piloting the use of  established measures of  wellbeing (e.g., the ‘ONS4’)*. 

* www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/methodologies/
personalwellbeingsurveyuserguide

In response to the evaluation feedback, we have created a Self-Assessment Framework 
(SAF) to help us reflect and develop; developed a suite of  resources and case studies 
demonstrating practical ways to use the Approach to Wellbeing (which will be available on 
the County Durham Partnership website soon) and continued to embed the Approach to 
Wellbeing into local work. 

Over 2021/22 we have continued to develop our work together with communities, known as 
co-producing. Next steps include looking at how we continue to develop the Community 
Champions roles, developing our co-production approaches further and exploring how we 
can measure the wellbeing of  our residents more effectively. 

Here are some examples of  how our co-production work and our Approach to Wellbeing are 
helping put communities at the heart of  local decision-making. 

County Durham Together 

From the start of  the COVID-19 outbreak, the County Durham 
Together (CDT) community hub was established to provide support to 
vulnerable people during the pandemic, particularly those who were 
shielding or self-isolating. The hub also provided residents with vital 
information, support and advice throughout the pandemic. CDT has 
since supported over 10,000 people in County Durham.    

In moving to living with COVID-19, we recognised that many of  these positive support 
systems and ways of  working were a good model for providing services, especially as 
local communities were so involved in shaping delivery. 

The 2021 Director of  Public Health (DPH) annual report recognised this good work, 
and reflected that working together in a co-production, community-centred way puts 
communities at the heart of  decision making; ‘working with’ residents and communities 
rather than ‘doing to’ them. We also recognised that working together as a whole system 
is also more effective for partners, enabling the best use of  resources and avoiding 
duplication. 

CDT has become central to our partnership work with statutory organisations, working 
hand in hand with the voluntary and community sector and mutual aid groups to deliver 
services and support. CDT now builds on this existing good practice and community 
assets in local areas.    

To further shape the service to enable improved opportunities and better outcomes for 
our communities, the 2021 DPH annual report recommended that we implement the 
‘County Durham Together transformation programme’, which is now underway. We’ll 
continue this work as part of  our recommendations for the forthcoming year. 

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 11

P
age 46

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/methodologies/personalwellbeingsurveyuserguide
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/methodologies/personalwellbeingsurveyuserguide


12 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Early Help Assessment Review 

The Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) through the 
national Supporting Families Programme placed a requirement on local authorities and 
their partners to capture the volume and quality of  early help that is taking place across 
the system. 

In response, the Prevention and Early Help Partnership worked with partners, children 
and young people, parents and carers to develop a new Early Help Assessment, with 
a range of  supporting guidance. A group of  children and young people, parents and 
carers came together to co-produce a family friendly animation explaining Early Help in 
County Durham https://youtu.be/j6qkmpdBfJk. 

The establishment of  project task 
and finish groups also enabled 
close links with the Durham 
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership 
and other stakeholders, to help 
make sure this work is joined up. 

Durham Mental Wellbeing Alliance 

In April 2021, Durham County Council commissioned a new 
collaborative approach to commissioning support services for 
people experiencing mental ill-health. The new County Durham 
Mental Wellbeing Alliance (the Alliance) includes a range of  mental 
health providers, including small charities and larger national 
organisations, and its structure enables members to work together 
to shape the development and delivery of  contracts based on 
knowledge of  local need. 

By pooling skills, knowledge and resources; making 
the most of  existing assets and joining up provision, the 
Alliance aims to make sure people don’t ‘fall through 
the gaps’. To support with this, there is now one point of  
contact for people looking for help around their mental 
wellbeing, where residents can access a wide range of  
services, with referrals taking place either by telephone or 
via the website. A real benefit of  this single point of  service 
is that people don’t have to repeat their story to multiple 
providers. 

The Alliance offers a range of  support, for example around hospital discharge, welfare 
rights, group-based activities and suicide bereavement. More information can be found 
on the Alliance’s website:-  
https://www.durhammentalwellbeingalliance.org

Relationships Matter Community Engagement 

A partnership group was established to embed the national Reducing Parental Conflict 
programme across County Durham. The group commissioned a piece of  community 
engagement work to help identify priorities and design programme delivery through 
a co-created action plan. Listening to the views of  parents and carers led to the re-
branding of  the programme from ‘Reducing Parental Conflict’ to ‘Relationships Matter’. 
Communities told us they wanted self-help tools they could access digitally, and this 
led to the creation of  a public-facing website, with 
children involved in the design process and content 
co-designed with families  
https://www.durham.gov.uk/relationshipsmatter. 
The site will be regularly reviewed with parents and 
carers to ensure it continues to meet their needs. 

Community Engagement to build a new school in Belmont 

Working closely with the local 
community during phase one of  this 
project helped build strong social 
value points into the tender for a new 
school build in Belmont, and make 
sure they reflected local needs and 
aspirations. Working closely with 
the Area Action Partnership, a co-
production group was established to 
highlight existing assets and identify 
priorities. We continue to support 
this group to make new connections 
and find ways to meet the needs in 
their own communities.  

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 13

A local councillor has been involved in the co-production group: 

“We’ve seen that people have come and really shared their knowledge of  what’s 
going on in the community. We’ve found out a lot more about what’s happening, we’ve 
learned a lot more about who is benefitting from the activities, and we’ve heard a 
lot about the needs of  venues, projects and services in the community…I think the 
discussion has been realistic but also aspirational”. 

P
age 47

https://youtu.be/j6qkmpdBfJk


1514 Living with COVID-19 Living with COVID-19

Living with COVID-19
The pandemic has been one of  the biggest public health challenges in living memory. 
COVID-19 has affected every part of  our society throughout 2020, 2021 and into 2022.

During the many waves and variants we experienced, we saw incredible and sustained 
efforts from communities and organisations working together in helping to make sure people 
were as protected as possible. Across the county local people, health, social care, council 
staff  and wider partners showed us some extraordinary examples of  positive partnership 
working. 

This partnership approach has continued through new and rapidly changing environments, 
while keeping systems running and supporting community resilience. To support these 
positive actions, we have contributed to both national and regional programmes and 
are heavily involved in the regional LA7 Leaders* work, providing consistent advice and 
guidance across the North East region. We have also been proactive in advocating for 
greater national support on behalf  of  our communities. 

The 2020 and 2021 Director of  Public Health annual reports give detailed information on the 
extensive COVID-19 response and recovery actions that Public Health have led and worked 
collaboratively with others to deliver. 

During 2022, in line with national guidance, we have moved from our enhanced response 
to a position of  ‘living safely with COVID-19’, aligning the management of  COVID-19 to 
other respiratory infections and diseases which can spread between people. However, we 
must remember that the virus remains a highly infectious illness which continues to require 
ongoing partnership work to protect people’s health. 

The learning from our COVID-19 response and recovery work, along with other elements 
such as the Local Tracing Partnership (NHS Test and Trace Service), the County Durham 
Together Community Hub, the Targeted Community Testing programme and the successful 
rollout of  the COVID-19 vaccine programme has been brought together. Together, they form 
the basis of  many of  the ‘Protected’ actions in our refreshed Public Health Strategic Plan. 

*The LA7 Leaders are the leaders of  Durham County Council, Gateshead Council, Newcastle City Council, 
Northumberland County Council, North Tyneside Council, South Tyneside Council and Sunderland City Council. 

During the pandemic we have ...

Recognised over 400 
COVID-19 heros

Dealt with over 4,700
COVID-19 reports in 
schools, further education 
and early years settings.

Published over 400
‘live’ COVID-19 dashboards social 
media posts with figures for local 
rates, age bands, vaccinations 
hospital admissions, to inform the 
public.

Delivered over 
1,152,536 doses 
of COVID-19 
vaccinations 

Supported over

10,000
individuals through the County 
Durham Together Community Hub.Supplied over

1.5 million
LFD Tests through the 
targeted community 
testing programme

Delivered over 

800 COVID-19 
compliance and 
enforcement visits.

Managed over76 bids 
through various COVID-19 funding 
totalling over £23 million.

Over the pandemic we have…
• Maintained the interactive public-facing COVID-19 dashboard on Durham Insight and 

promoted it through social media platforms 

• Developed the ‘spike detector’ tool to highlight local areas seeing a rise in cases. This 
helped us to quickly implement appropriate infection control measures from a range 
of  key partners locally 

• Produced and maintained a range of  COVID-19 dashboards (schools, care homes, 
health settings, age bands, testing and vaccinations), to inform partners and to focus 
their actions and delivery

• Overseen and supported the rollout of  the COVID-19 vaccination and booster 
programmes, including vulnerable groups

• Delivered a proactive ‘Leaving no-one behind’ vaccination programme in 
communities with low vaccine uptake

• Developed, implemented and delivered Local Plans, including plans to deal with any 
surge in case rates or new variants of  concern

• Maintained and adapted essential public health services to 
continue to deliver support throughout the pandemic

• Introduced many new partnership groups to coordinate and 
deliver support where needed 

• Developed and supported our COVID-19 Champions

• Talked with young people to better understand how we 
could support them through the pandemic 

• Continued to build strong relationships with national and 
regional partners to better support our communities

• Delivered communication plans to support our communities 
with COVID-19 secure messages (Hands, Face, Space, 
Fresh Air) 

• Supported regional ‘BeatCovidNE’ campaigns such as, 
‘Thank you County Durham’, ‘Acts of  Kindness Awards’ and 
‘Step up to beat Covid’ 

Covid-19 Acts of Kindness 

County Durham’s Winner

Alfie Dixon-Clark
During lockdown, Alfie used money that he’d saved for his 
birthday to buy supplies to create coronavirus “survival packs” 
- filled with treats, colouring pages and other helpful items 
which he delivered to youngsters across County Durham. 

Known locally as ‘Alf  the Kid’, he handed out over 1,000 packs 
during the pandemic by using his weekly pocket money to 
keep the project going, and thanks to donations from the local 
community. The Academy at Shotton Hall pupil also created 
special VE Day bags for care home residents and to this day is 
continuing to do all he can to support others. Through his many 
acts of  kindness, Alfie has shown that no matter what your age, 
you can make a difference.

P
age 48



1716 Living with COVID-19 Living with COVID-19

We have retained elements of  the temporary Outbreak Control Team set up to respond 
to COVID-19. From this, we have established a new Protecting Health Team within public 
health, which has seen us extend our health protection work to support the response and 
capacity including:- 

• Working with the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) and wider colleagues to detect 
and prevent onward transmission of  infectious diseases; such as Avian Flu and 
Monkeypox.

• Creating frameworks and pathways to help identify, control and treat these diseases, 
including the development of  the County Durham Avian Influenza Framework, Anti-
viral pathways for Seasonal Flu, Avian Flu and Monkeypox. Emergency planning and 
surge response for infectious diseases. 

• Plans to mitigate the health impacts of  severe weather and climate change.

• Identifying and addressing variations in uptake in screening vaccination, and 
immunisation.

• We have reviewed the health protection arrangements and continue to work closely 
with our local and regional partners, as health protection is a joint responsibility 
across various bodies including the Local Authority, UKHSA, NHS England and 
Integrated Care Board. 

Recognising heroes of the COVID-19 pandemic
More than 400 COVID-19 heroes have been nominated for an award recognising  
the contribution of County Durham residents during the pandemic.

How to thank someone
If  you would like to nominate someone who has been a shining light during the pandemic, 
email PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk with the title Public Health Award. Include details of  
the person you are nominating, the reasons for your nomination and an example of  their 
contribution. A letter and certificate will then be shared with you to present to the nominee. 

The hundreds of  heart-warming nominations for the Recognition of  Contribution award 
include stories from a wide range of  people who have received support from friends, 
neighbours, local businesses and community groups. They feature people who have 
organised social activities and befriending services or have collected shopping and 
prescriptions as well as NHS, GP and care staff  and those who have volunteered at testing 
and vaccination sites. 

Here are a few examples of  the people who have been recognised so far.

Tom
Tom Howe, from Bishop 
Auckland, raised more than 
£8,000 for local hospitals by 
entertaining the community 
with his crazy bingo and 
singing sessions. The 25-year-
old hosted a variety of  
online events from his dining 
room during the COVID-19 
lockdowns, including a 
virtual VE day celebration 
to help raise people's 
spirits and promote positive 
mental wellbeing during the 
pandemic. He also took on 
the challenge of  running his 
own pub so he could continue 
looking after the community.

Pat
Pat Clarey worked tirelessly during 
the first lockdown, baking much 
appreciated cakes and scones for 
staff  at Bishop Auckland hospital. 
She also delivered shopping 
for people unable to leave their 
homes and regularly walked an 
elderly neighbour’s dog.

When COVID-19 restrictions 
began to ease, Pat helped people 
keep active and connected by 
organising a socially distanced 
sequence dance three times a 
week in Leeholme Community 
Hall, providing refreshments and 
sourcing music CDs at her own 
expense.

Chloe 
Chloe Fairclough played a key 
role in our Get Tested COVID Safe 
County marketing campaign. The 
17-year-old from Bishop Auckland 
kindly let us use an image of  her 
taking a COVID-19 test, to help us 
promote regular testing to young 
people across County Durham. 

Chloe’s contribution is an 
important one, making the 
decision to put the importance 
of  promoting testing ahead of  
any concerns or embarrassment 
about being judged by her peer 
group.

Recognition of Contribution 
to Public Health Award

P
age 49

mailto:PublicHealth%40durham.gov.uk?subject=


1918 Making smoking history Making smoking history

Making smoking history 
Background  
Smoking remains the single largest cause of  preventable deaths and one of  the largest 
causes of  health inequalities. In England, despite reductions in the numbers of  people 
smoking, there are still approximately 7.3 million adult smokers and more than 200 people a 
day die from smoking-related illness, which could have been prevented. 

Across County Durham, the difference in life expectancy between the poorest and most 
affluent groups can be over nine years. Some of  this reduced life span is directly due to 
people smoking. Smoking, and the harms linked to smoking, continue to fall hardest on 
some of  the poorest and most vulnerable people in our society. 

Smoking impacts on so many facets of  an individual’s life. As well as dying earlier than 
non-smokers, smokers also suffer from poorer quality of  life. Many of  the conditions caused 
by smoking are chronic (long-term) illnesses such as heart disease, stroke, lung cancer 
and respiratory disease. There are also huge implications for those who live with smokers, 
as breathing in second-hand smoke also has detrimental impacts on health for babies, 
children, and other family members. 

Surveys have shown that 75% of  smokers regret ever starting smoking and 69% of  
adult smokers in England want to quit. It takes, on average, 30 attempts before a smoker 
successfully quits, showing the real addiction and grip that tobacco has on people. 

For all these reasons, tobacco is a key public health priority, and this report aims to 
refocus our efforts on reducing the number of  people smoking in County Durham. In this 
section, we will also give updates from the key areas of  previous reports and make further 
recommendations for change. With the new findings from the Khan Review*, this is the right 
time to refocus on smoking.
*www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-khan-review-making-smoking-obsolete 

Smoking in County Durham – Our challenges

Smoking still kills

894
people die 
per year 
from causes 
linked to 
smoking 

 1 in 6  
adult deaths are 
smoking related

Deaths from chronic 
obstructive pulmonary 
disease (COPD) and lung 
cancer are significantly 
higher than England

Early deaths 
equate to 

4,357 
lost years of 
life each year

The scale of the issue

The number 
of adults 
smoking is 
decreasing 
over time

More than 
5 out of 6  
adults are non-
smokers, similar  
to England

 700 
babies are 
born to 
mothers 
that smoke

People working 
in routine and 
manual jobs are 
twice as likely 
to smoke than 
people in other 
professions

Over 4,800 people 
set a quit date with 
the Stop Smoking 
Service in 2019/20, 
around 45% quit at 
4 weeks

Smoking levels in County Durham   
The percentage of  the population who smoke is called the ‘smoking prevalence’. Over time 
the prevalence is generally reducing within County Durham. However, it is still higher than 
the North East and England averages. Due to the pandemic, the way in which we collect 
data has changed. The 2020 Local Tobacco Control Profile shows the prevalence at 14.3%, 
but as the method has changed, we cannot directly compare this to previous years. 

In County Durham we want to achieve a prevalence of  5% by 2030. To get to this figure, we 
would need 40,100 fewer smokers. 

We also want to reduce the number of  mothers smoking at time of  delivery of  their babies 
to 0% by 2025. The latest data suggested that to meet this target, we would need 700 fewer 
mothers smoking at time of  delivery. 

Whilst smoking overall across the county is decreasing, smoking amongst some groups 
of  people is going up. The ‘routine and manual’ workforce are smoking more than 
before, including labourers, bar staff, lorry drivers and care workers. The numbers of  
smokers in this category of  people has increased from 25.1% in 2018 to 27.3% in 2019. 
This is a concern, as nationally and within other areas of  the North East the rates have 
decreased. We need to understand why this is the case, and to support, we will engage 
with businesses through our connections with Business Durham. This will help us to better 
understand how we support these people to stop smoking. 

P
age 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-khan-review-making-smoking-obsolete


2120 Making smoking history Making smoking history

Within County Durham, smoking impacts on…

Preventable ill-health

3% 
of newborns have a 
low birth weight

Over 

38,000 
people registered 
with asthma

Every week there are 10 new 
cases of lung cancer

17,500 
people registered with COPD – 
enough to fill an international 

match at Durham Cricket 
ground

Health care, social care and services

Costs associated with 
Healthcare, social care 
and fire costs total over 

£41.1m
Over 

6,000 smoking 
attributable hosptial 
admissions each 
year

Over

260,000
GP appointments

Smoking related ill-health means 

an extra 12,300 people are 
receiving care from relatives and 

friends and 5,000 people 
with unmet social care needs

Poverty and the economy

Smoking is estimated to cost 

£170.7m 
in lost productivity

Smoking costs contribute to 

25,000 households living 
in poverty

This includes around 

16,000
dependant children

The average smoker 
spends just under

£2,000
per year on tobacco

Over 

4,300 people are 
economically inactive 
due to smoking

Costs
The average smoker spends around £2,000 a year on tobacco, meaning £141.70 million 
is spent in County Durham on tobacco each year. When income and smoking costs are 
taken into account, 25,003 households are driven into poverty. These are real residents of  
households within County Durham which includes 34,165 adults below pension age, 6,252 
pension age adults and around 16,163 dependent children. 

Smokers’ employment chances and average earnings are also damaged by smoking. In 
County Durham 4,326 people are economically inactive due to smoking, with smokers 
earning 6.8% less than non-smokers which creates further disadvantage for smokers.

 

Carol’s experience

“I knew that if  I didn’t quit, I would end up dead from COPD. Thinking back, I have pushed 
my luck since the age of  15 and the effects of  smoking were starting to catch up with me. 
I was rushed into hospital with breathing difficulties one Sunday and as soon as I got out, 
I rang my GP for help to stop and they gave me the stop smoking service number. Whilst 
quitting, I found it helpful to clean my whole house and decorate to remove the stale smell 
of  smoke. It was like starting a new life without cigarettes. Decorating also made me want to 
keep my house smelling nice so was another reason not to smoke”. 

Our local plans  
The Tobacco Control Alliance is a group with many different agencies who work together to 
reduce the County Durham smoking prevalence. During COVID-19 this group still met, as 
we continued to prioritise tobacco control as an important public health priority. 

The plan to reduce smoking to 5% by 2030 is focussed around seven key areas of  work 
below. We have several partners working together within this agenda to ensure that we 
reach this target: 

1 Use of an integrated evidence-based 
strategic approach to reducing smoking 
prevalence in County Durham

a. Undertake proactive and reactive work to 
influence policy and legislation

b.  Work together to achieve the 5% by 2030

2 Reducing Exposure to 
Second-hand Smoke

a.  Providing training and information on the 
harms that are linked to second-hand smoke

b.  Working with local housing providers to 
see how we can support them to reduce 
exposure to second hand smoke, e.g. 
offering vapes as options

c. Working with partners in education and 
children’s services to reduce the exposure 
that children have to second-hand smoke

3 Motivating and supporting smokers 
to stop and stay stopped

a.  Providing our local stop smoking service

b.  Targeted provision at key groups– routine 
and manual workers, pregnant women, 
people with serious mental illness

4 Media, communications and 
engagement

a.  Share communications about the harms 
associated with tobacco

b.  Providing training about how to have a 
conversation with someone who would like 
to stop smoking

5 Reducing the demand and supply of illegal 
tobacco products, increasing price and 
addressing the supply of tobacco to children

a.  Tackling underage sales

b.  Advocating for the age of sale to be 
increased

6 Tobacco Regulation and reducing 
tobacco promotion 

a. Enforcement around illicit tobacco 

7  Research, monitoring and evaluation

a.  Review data and responding to local needs

P
age 51



2322 Making smoking history Making smoking history

Mark’s experience

“I really believed that if  I didn’t contact the stop smoking service 
then I would end up dead. My breathing difficulties started with hay 
fever, which turned into asthma and then COPD. I was getting 
infections and antibiotics; this was a regular thing and I noticed I 
couldn’t walk upstairs without being breathless. I started smoking 
when I was 14 and at school. I just wanted to fit in. Dealing with 
cravings at first was the hardest thing. I used a patch and a nasal 
spray to quit, it took some getting used to but I was really surprised 
how quick it worked. My advisor from the stop smoking service 
helped me with weekly calls, it really helped knowing that someone 
was going to ask me how I was doing and check up on my 
progress”. 

What have we done in 2022
Durham County Council is the lead local authority who commission Fresh 
to support seven local authorities within the North East by: 

• Providing a wealth of  knowledge and information to support our local 
plans 

• Delivering mass media campaigns on the harms associated with smoking, such as 
‘Don’t wait’ to encourage people to quit smoking, which we have localised across County 
Durham 

• Championing and advocating for change within government policies, to make a 
difference nationally which will improve lives for local people 

• Having active involvement in research and national consultations to better understand the 
needs and opinions of  the public 

One important component within our approach to tobacco control is our local stop smoking 
service, delivered by ABL Health, which is there to provide free support and guidance to 
those who want to stop smoking. The service offers an individual quit programme for up 
to 12 weeks, alongside a choice of  stop smoking medications and Nicotine Replacement 
Therapy (NRT). This year, the service has begun piloting e-cigarettes as a stop smoking 
method to provide an alternative product to cigarettes. This year our local stop smoking 
service has helped 1,776 people to stop smoking and live healthier lives.

In County Durham we have identified that the cost of  NRT is often a barrier to people who 
are wanting to quit smoking. Therefore, we have ensured that there is no cost for those 
receiving NRT through our local stop smoking service. 

We have also recently been successful in gaining funding from Office for Health 
Improvement and Disparities (OHID) to work with individuals with serious mental illness who 
smoke and may wish to stop. We will do some targeted work within Chester-Le-Street as a 
pilot to look at how we support people with serious mental illness to quit smoking.

 

Alan’s experience

“I have smoked for 41 years and now I’m really looking forward to 
telling my friends and family that I have quit. My health has 
improved, I am saving money and people are telling me I look well. 
My motivation was to save money and my health. I coughed a lot. I 
found that patches and an E Cig worked well. If  I do now ever think 
about smoking, I do something that takes my mind off  it like make 
myself  a cup of  tea”.

What more needs to be done 
Whilst lots of  great work is ongoing, it is key that we need to work together to continue to 
reduce our smoking prevalence rates. This is vitally important across our entire population, 
but in particular in targeting key priority groups to reduce health inequalities associated 
with smoking. To make this happen, we will enhance the work that we are doing with our key 
partners such as the NHS, Social Care and Housing Providers. 

The Khan Review has implications across the country. Locally, we need to champion and 
endorse these recommendations to support our local population. We also need to ensure 
that we continue to engage with elected members, MPs and Health and Wellbeing Board, to 
gain their support to endorse the recommendations.

Cathy’s experience

Cathy lost one of  her lungs to cancer through smoking and has 
been urging others to quit and not wait until it is too late… 

“I smoked and smoked, I was aware of  the risks, but you think it 
is never going to happen to you. Then two days before my 50th 
birthday I found out I had a tumour on my lung. It was terrifying and 
the impact on my girls was the hardest thing. You hear the word 
cancer and the first thing I thought was how do I tell my girls? As a 
single parent it was a horrendous thought that I might not be there 
for them.”

Seven years after her cancer and now two years cancer free, Cathy can reflect on the 
benefits she sees from quitting…

“The biggest benefit is the money. When you smoke you find a way to buy cigarettes. 
You eat cheaper food and deny yourself  things so you can smoke. Also, I can see the 
difference in how I look. Smoking ages you and my skin is so much better now. I feel the 
benefits every day and thank God I am alive and there with my girls.” 

“My advice would be to never think that poor health or cancer won’t happen to you and 
if  you’re trying to quit then ring your local stop smoking service and get their advice on 
avoiding smoking. They will advise you on quitting aids to take away cravings.”

If  you are a current smoker living or working within County Durham and interested in 
learning about the support available for you to quit please contact 0800 772 0565 to 
arrange an appointment. Or visit the Smokefree County Durham website at 
www.smokefreecountydurham.co.uk for more information.

P
age 52

http://www.smokefreecountydurham.co.uk 


2524 Priorities Priorities

Priorities 
Over the last year we have reviewed and reshaped our County Durham Public Health 
Strategic Plan to improve and protect the health and wellbeing of  the county and to reduce 
health inequalities. Our actions strive, not only to increase life expectancy but to extend the 
length of  time individuals live in good health.

We are working on the following priorities within the Strategic Plan which will focus on 
reducing health inequalities. Our actions are aligned to our wellbeing principles and the 
following three themed areas: 

• Healthier: Having and promoting a healthier population (both physical health and mental 
wellbeing). For example.

 Improve mental health and emotional wellbeing 
 Improve levels of  physical activity and healthy weight 

• Fairer: Improving health across the whole life course, access to good quality health 
services and those wider services that also have an impact on population health while 
reducing population health inequalities and inequities. For example.

 Work with partners to help reduce poverty and the impact of  poverty and the cost of   
 living crisis
 Work with partners to contribute to inclusive economic growth

• Protected: Protecting the health of  our communities against communicable disease, 
domestic abuse, tobacco, drugs and alcohol that cause severe harm and plan for future 
emergencies. For example.

 Reduce the harm caused through alcohol and drugs within our local communities 
 Respond to seasonal risks to health and ensure County Durham’s preparedness for  

 winter

We have provided an update below of  some work covered in our plan.

Healthier: Supporting us to be mentally healthier - The ‘Now You’re Talking’ 
campaign 
In 2021, we recognised that many things, including the ongoing 
pandemic, could be negatively impacting people’s thoughts and 
moods. In response, we created a supporting mental wellbeing 
campaign. The ‘Now You’re Talking’ (‘NYT’) campaign encourages 
people to talk to someone they trust about anything that may 
be worrying or bothering them. The campaign doesn’t directly 
mention ‘mental health’, as the campaign is for all of  us. We all 
worry about things from time to time. When this happens, it’s 
important to open up to someone about how we are feeling. 

We created some draft images and messages for the proposed 
campaign, including things that many people in County Durham 
would say in everyday life. We asked a number of  mental health 
groups and charities for their thoughts on the draft campaign, receiving some fantastic 
suggestions as to how to make it better, more inclusive and more relevant to the people of  
County Durham. These included:- 

• Including more pictures of  ‘real’ people, pictures and images from County Durham. 

• Not using any gender references. Everyone should be involved, no matter how people 
gender-identify. 

• Recognising that talking to someone can be hard, including messages encouraging 
someone to talk, and encouraging a person to talk to someone they might be worried 
about. 

We included all the suggestions in the final campaign. 

The campaign was originally scheduled to run across County 
Durham from March to June 2022, including posters on buses and 
some bus stops across County Durham. We also ran short adverts 
on local radio stations, and a TV advert showing local people 
walking on Seaham beach. You can see the TV advert at  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2qdeGwAZTto
In Spring 2022 the campaign was extended, in recognition 
of  some significant UK and world events, such as the news 
about Ukraine and the worries about the rising cost of  fuel. The 
campaign will now run across County Durham until Summer 2023. 
We are extremely grateful to everyone who has helped shape the 
campaign. 

Remember, if  you need some support with your mental health information and support is 
available through https://www.durham.gov.uk/adultmentalhealthsupport

Fairer: A fairer approach to supporting mental wellbeing in 
schools – the Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Framework
The Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Framework was developed 
through collaboration with schools, Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) and Inclusion, Public Health and Education Durham to 
support schools and education settings in County Durham to improve the 
overall health and wellbeing of  children and young people.

The framework uses the ‘Thrive’ model (https://www.annafreud.org/schools-and-colleges/) 
and supports partners in working together and taking a whole school approach to mental 
wellbeing. This helps schools by offering a positive, resilience-based approach, providing 
a structure and guidance considering the physical, mental, and emotional health and 
wellbeing of  the whole school setting. Resources and training are also provided in support. 

Since April 2021 when the framework was launched, 106 education settings across 
primary, secondary, post 16, independent and special schools have pledged to adopt 
the framework. This means that each school setting has committed to completing a self-
assessment, which helps them to identify areas of  improvement.  

Ox Close Primary School Case Study 

“To decide the focus of  any health and wellbeing 
improvements in school we surveyed staff  and pupils then 
met and discussed our action plans and made the decision to 
roll out the project on a whole-school basis from early years 
to year 6. Our children now enjoy new playtimes with a range 
of  focused activities, and we have noticed that teamwork has 
improved and playtime conflict is reduced. Our lunchtime supervisors have also been in 
full support and have noted a huge decline in behaviour incidents. Parents and ancillary 
staff  are on board and have been supportive. Staff  morale has increased so much 
during this project. Staff  have mentioned that even the fact that staff  wellbeing has 
been made a priority by the Senior Leadership Team has made them feel valued and 
more open to accessing resources to help improve their personal mental health and 
wellbeing.” P

age 53

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2qdeGwAZTto
https://www.durham.gov.uk/adultmentalhealthsupport
https://www.annafreud.org/schools-and-colleges/


2726 Priorities Priorities

Burnside Primary School case study

“The aim of  my project was to raise the profile of  mental health 
and wellbeing in school and to focus on resilience to help address 
some of  the needs that had been identified in the parents and child 
questionnaires.” 

“During the lockdown remote learning took place and resilience 
needed to have a large focus. Therefore the idea of  ‘Resilient Rex’ 
was born. This was a dinosaur who had resilient characteristics. 
He appeared in online lessons and the children discussed with 
Rex how he could remain resilient. In order to support children’s mental health week, 
we created mindfulness packs. These included tasks the children could use to help 
keep their minds calm during lockdown and Resilient Rex came to school to hand 
out the packs. It was vital I found ways to ensure that the profile of  mental health and 
wellbeing remained a priority even though the children were learning remotely. The final 
assessment in the Summer term showed that the children’s resilience was slightly better 
compared to where it had been at the end of  the Autumn term. Having looked at the 
resilience scales for the children from the beginning of  the project to the end, it is clear 
that their awareness of  resilience has improved with children moving up the scale.” 

Mrs Paula Renwick (deputy Head and Mental Health and Wellbeing Lead)

Protected: Helping protect people from Domestic Abuse 
It is estimated that over 2.4m people are affected by domestic abuse each year in England 
and Wales. To tackle this, in April 2021 the government introduced The Domestic Abuse Act 
2021. The Act aims to support victims, including children and young people, to live lives free 
from abuse, coercion, and control.

The Act highlights the challenges that families experiencing domestic abuse can face. This 
includes recognising Child/Adolescent to Parent Violence and Abuse (CAPVA) as a form 
of  abuse. Over 2021, early help services in County Durham were trained to deliver the 
Respect Young People’s Programme (RYPP), a 12 week course designed to help families 
experiencing CAPVA, using solution-focused interventions.

White Ribbon Day

Durham County Council (DCC) has also strengthened our response to domestic abuse 
in the workplace. This included supporting the ‘16 days of  International Action’ and 
‘White Ribbon Day’ campaigns, with a number of  staff  members pledging to support 
the end of  violence against women and girls.

 Case study - Kelly and Talia’s story

Kelly and her daughter Talia live in South Durham and are the first 
family to complete the Respect Young People’s Programme - a 
new programme designed to support families where Child and 
Adolescent to Parent Violence and Abuse (CAPVA) may be a 
concern. 

Kelly’s daughter has complicated medical needs and at around 
the age of  13, she started rebelling against her disability, misbehaving at school, being 
aggressive at home and self-harming. Her behaviour got worse during lockdown until 
her mum decided to go to One Point, the council’s early help service for children and 
their families, for support. Here she was introduced to the Respect Young People’s 
Programme (RYPP) and shown how it could help the family.

During the 12 week RYPP programme, Kelly and her daughter each worked individually 
with their support workers, before coming together as a group to talk about the issues 
they were facing, triggers for behaviour and how those situations were dealt with. 

Kelly has found the programme useful as it made her look at what she could do better 
as a mother to manage her daughter’s behaviour. 

“The programme was good as it helped me see where I was going wrong. I suppose I 
parented in the same way my dad did, but I have come to understand that times have 
changed. I wouldn’t dare answer back but kids these days are not afraid to challenge 
parents and teachers.

Instead of  just rewarding good behaviour, I now challenge poor behaviour too. Since 
going through the programme, she has been good at understanding and taking her 
punishment and while her behaviour is still not perfect, it has improved. She still displays 
typical teenage attitude, and things are still not perfect at school, but the aggressive 
outbursts have stopped, and she is generally a lot easier to handle. 

I’m just happy that things have settled down at home. Home should be a haven, and its 
starting to feel like that for us now. Her six-year-old sister was frightened of  her, but since 
going through the programme, this is no longer the case.

I would definitely recommend the programme, as I feel like the interventions have helped 
me get my life back and the house is now a much calmer place”.

Talia said, “before we did the RYPP programme mam and me had lots of  arguments, 
this made me feel angry. Since doing the RYPP programme mam and me now 
communicate more to prevent further arguments. Rewards have been put in place. 
Things are better now, we don’t argue as much, we spend more time together.”

A staff member working with Kelly’s family

“We are delighted to roll out the Respect Young People’s 
Programme to families across County Durham. CAPVA is 
becoming more and more common, and it isn’t just about violent 
behaviour, it can incorporate emotional, coercive, or controlling 
behaviour, sexual and economic abuse.”

The programme is designed to enable families to identify 
negative behaviour patterns and work towards positive outcomes, avoiding blame and 
instead working together with parents or carers and the young person, and seeing them 
all as part of  the solution.

For more information and links to support for Domestic Abuse visit: 
www.durham.gov.uk/domesticabuse

P
age 54

https://www.durham.gov.uk/domesticabuse


2928 Update on recommendations from 2021 Update on recommendations from 2021

Update on recommendations from 2021

Promoting positive behaviours
In the last year’s report I said that we would: 
1. Increase the number of schools signed up to ‘Active 30’ and target communities 

most impacted by COVID-19 to promote and embed daily physical activity habit  
70 schools have signed up to the programme in the 2021/22 academic year. 
Additional government funding has provided greater opportunities to extend the 
project’s reach, including embedding Active 30 across holiday ‘fun and food’ delivery 
with resources to support young people to be active during the holiday periods. 

2. Implement measures with housing and other providers to reduce the risk from 
second-hand smoke in the home   
We are now engaging with housing providers to reduce smoking rates of  those 
who are living in social housing and to reduce exposure to second-hand smoke for 
children and other family members.

3. Produce a communications campaign to raise awareness of the health and 
social impacts of increased alcohol intake on individuals, families and the wider 
community   
Two significant alcohol-related campaigns “Alcohol Causes Cancer” and “What’s the 
Harm” were promoted throughout County Durham. A Drink Coach app was included 
in one campaign to provide information and on safe drinking levels and how to 
access additional support.

Better quality of life through integrated health and care services 
1. Shape and engage in the Integrated Care Partnership ensuring County Durham is 

at the forefront to benefit from any changes  
The County Durham Care Partnership has continued to work to improve the public’s 
health and provide input to reduce health inequalities. 

2. Implement the County Durham Together (CDT) transformation programme 
Since 2021, CDT has worked in partnership to begin embedding co-production into 
our decision making, policy and strategy development processes and service  
re-design. Please see page 11 for more details on CDT. 

3. Build on the personalised care developments in cancer for other long-term 
conditions

 We continue to work with partners using a co-production approach where we can, 
to make our interventions better and more tailored. This includes creating new pilot 
models to test how best tailored care may work for individual people, and continuing 
to support the roll out of  Personalised Health Budgets. 

High quality drug and alcohol services 
1. Increase co-production within drug and alcohol services to ensure delivery is 

inclusive 
County Durham Together has supported the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service 
(DARS) to develop a Co-production Board. The Board now includes service users,  
ex-service users and their carers, helping people impacted by substance misuse to 
have a voice in innovating service delivery. 

2. Build on and improve the current working relationship with criminal justice 
partners to ensure a co-ordinated whole systems approach to drug harm 
reduction 
We are working with partners on drug-related harm reduction, with the support of  
additional funding secured for the county. This includes a new workforce within the 
prison, police and court system and extended provision of  ‘Naloxone’ (used as an 
antidote to overdoses) in police response vehicles. 

3. Begin work towards implementing the recommendations in Dame Carol Black’s 
Independent report, ‘Review of drugs part two: prevention, treatment and 
recovery’

 County Durham has secured significant new funding to implement the 
recommendations made by Dame Carol Black. This has supported more services 
within the criminal justice workstream, greater harm reduction, more outreach 
support and the provision of  a new Alcohol Care Team (ACT). We now also have extra 
capacity for inpatient detoxification, mental health, families, women-only services and 
extra support for Rough Sleepers. 

P
age 55



Conclusion30

Conclusion 
My report this year has been one of  transition from the pandemic to a re-focusing of  
priorities. It has provided an update of  the health and wellbeing of  our residents and 
where COVID-19 has had the greatest impact, both directly and indirectly.

It has also highlighted the work taking place to live safely with COVID-19 which has 
continued to be prominent and with our attention on those who are at greatest risk 
as well as reflecting on the last two years and how we worked so closely with our 
communities and how this can be taken forward.

Examples of  this were evident on our approach to wellbeing, shifting the balance to 
working with our communities and not ‘doing to’. 

In the recommendations from 2021 tobacco was highlighted as a key priority to redouble 
our efforts to make smoking history in our county. This report has provided an update 
on some excellent work alongside local residents stories of  how they have given up 
smoking which gives us a strong rationale to do everything possible to tackle levels of  
tobacco.

The building blocks for good health are a way of  us now describing how health 
and wellbeing is impacted by a range of  factors, including employment, housing, 
our environment and how much money our residents have to live on. The impact of  
COVID-19 and the cost-of-living increases make it even more important for us to embed 
health and wellbeing in the building blocks for good health. That means of  course that 
the public health team will lead on some aspects such as tobacco, however, will also 
continue to work very closely in the coming year with others to reduce poverty and the 
impact of  poverty and contribute to inclusive economic growth to ensure health and 
wellbeing is considered in the relevant strategies and action plans. 

It is only by doing this will we collectively and most importantly with our communities 
have healthier, fairer and protected lives.

31 

P
age 56



Please ask us if you would like this document 
summarised in another language or format:

Braille, Audio, Large print.

Arabic, Chinese, Urdu,

Polish, Punjabi, Spanish,

Bengali, Hindi, German,

French, Turkish, Malay.

Telephone: 03000 264 109
Email: PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk

53300 AHS

Page 57

http://PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Director of Public Health

Annual Report 2022

Adults, Wellbeing and 

Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee

16 January 2023

Amanda Healy
Director of Public Health

P
age 59



Building blocks for good health

• Social and environmental 

conditions in which we are 

born, grow up and live with do 

not give us all an equal 

chance. 

• How much money we have, 

the quality of the house we live 

in, the natural environment 

surrounding us, 

• Our access to transport, 

education and work, 

• Ability to choose healthy 

options,

• All impact on our chances of 

living a long and healthy life.

P
age 60



Health and wellbeing – impact of COVID-19

• The COVID-19 pandemic  impact on the health and wellbeing of residents of 

County Durham. 

• Challenges to health and wellbeing especially as we move towards living with 

COVID-19. 

• However County Durham also has many assets that can support and protect 

the health of our 530,000 residents. 

• Communities have worked together and alongside us to both strengthen 

existing assets and develop new ones. 

P
age 61

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


Health and wellbeing across County Durham

• The health and wellbeing of the people in County Durham is worse than the 

England average. 

• Health inequalities remain persistent and pervasive.

• There are inequalities within County Durham too.

We want all people to have the best length of life and quality of life that they can

Girls and boys born in County Durham today can expect to live 81.2 years and 77.7 years 

respectively. However, people are spending years living with illness and disability which 

affects the quality of their lives.

Life Expectancy and Healthy Life Expectancy (2018-2020)

P
age 62



Health and wellbeing across County Durham

• Working together, we can strive to reduce inequalities

P
age 63



Health and wellbeing – approach to wellbeing 

• How we work together to put communities at the heart of local decision 

making. The Approach to Wellbeing has developed over a period of years 

and has been evaluated during 2022 to see what is working and what 

needs to be improved

Durham mental wellbeing alliance

The new County Durham Mental Wellbeing 

Alliance includes a range of mental health 

providers, including small charities and 

larger national organisations, and its 

structure enables members to work 

together to shape the development and 

delivery of contracts based on knowledge 

of local need.

P
age 64



Living with COVID-19

• We have moved from response to living with 

COVID-19

• Continued support from communities

• Leave no-one behind vaccination campaign

• Focus on key settings and groups most at risk

During the pandemic we have…. 

P
age 65



Living with COVID-19

• Over 400 COVID-19 heroes have been nominated for an award recognising the 

contribution of County Durham residents during the pandemic. 

• Beat Covid NE campaigns and award

County Durham winner 

COVID acts of kindness award

During lockdown, Alfie used money that he’d saved 

for his birthday to buy supplies to create coronavirus 

“survival packs” which he delivered to youngsters 

across County Durham. 

Chloe played a key role in our Get 

Tested COVID Safe County 

marketing campaign. 

P
age 66



Making smoking history – recommendation 

from 2021

Smoking remains the single largest 

cause of preventable deaths and 

one of the largest causes of health 

inequalities. 

Smoking levels in County Durham

Prevalence is reducing within County 

Durham. However, it is still higher than 

the North East and England averages.  

In County Durham we want to achieve 

a prevalence of 5% by 2030.  To get to 

this figure we would need 40,100 fewer 

smokers and no new smokers

P
age 67



Making smoking history – our local plans

The Tobacco Control 

Alliance is a group with 

many different agencies 

who work together to 

reduce the County Durham 

smoking prevalence.  The 

plan to reduce smoking to 

5% by 2030 is focussed 

around seven key areas of 

work. 

P
age 68



Giving up smoking – local peoples experiences 

Cathy’s experience

Cathy lost one of her lungs to cancer through 

smoking and has been urging others to quit and 

not wait until it is too late… “ My advice would be 

to never think that poor health or cancer won’t 

happen to you and if you’re trying to quit then ring 

your local stop smoking service.

Alan’s experience

“I have smoked for 41 years and now I’m really 

looking forward to telling my friends and family 

that I have quit. My health has improved, I am 

saving money and people are telling me I look 

well. 

P
age 69



Priorities looking ahead

• Focused on the building blocks of good health

• Healthier lives, fairer lives and protected lives  

• Healthier: Supporting us to be mentally 

healthier - The ‘Now You’re Talking’ campaign 

• Fairer: A fairer approach to supporting mental 

wellbeing in schools – the Young People’s 

Health and Wellbeing Framework

• Protected: Helping protect people from 

Domestic Abuse

P
age 70



Healthier, Fairer and Protected

Healthier: 

The ‘Now You’re Talking’ campaign

Fairer: 

The Young People’s Health and Wellbeing 

Framework – Oxclose Primary School

Protected:

Respect Young People’s Programme –

Kelly and Talia’s story

P
age 71



Conclusion

• Building blocks for good health

• Transition from pandemic to living with 

COVID-19

• Increased focus on making smoking 

history

• Healthier, Fairer and Protected priorities

• Work with others to reduce poverty and 

contribute inclusive economic growth

• Working with partners and most 

importantly our local communities

P
age 72



 

 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health and  

Children and Young People’s Joint  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

  16 January 2023 

Health and Wellbeing Board Annual 

Report 2021-22 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 

Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham 

Electoral divisions affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present CYPS/AWH Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees with the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual 
Report 2021-22 (Appendix 2) for information. 

Executive summary 

2 The annual report outlines the work carried out which has been led and 
supported by the HWB during 2021-22 which has impacted positively on 
the strategic priorities detailed in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2021-25 (JHWS). The priorities, based on evidence from the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), informs partners planning, 
policy and commissioning decisions, which enables us to continue to 
work to improve health and wellbeing services to all sections of the 
population countywide. Future iterations will look to incorporate more of 
an asset based approach from communities.  

3 The Covid-19 pandemic has adversely affected the health and 
wellbeing of our population and increased health inequalities. The 
partnership response during these challenging times was particularly 
strong and there are positive lessons, practices, and collaborative 
experiences to build on, enabling the HWB to confidently address some 
of the future challenges we face over the forthcoming year and beyond.  

Recommendations 

4 CYPS/AWH Overview and Scrutiny Committees are recommended to: 

Page 73

Agenda Item 8

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/JointHealthAndWellbeingStrategy.pdf
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/JointHealthAndWellbeingStrategy.pdf


 

 

(a) note the work that took place in 2021-22 by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



 

 

Background 

5 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required all upper tier local 
authorities to establish Health and Wellbeing Boards.  The County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Board was formally established as a 
committee of Durham County Council (DCC) in April 2013. 

6 The Health and Care Act 2022 reiterated the Health & Wellbeing 
Board’s primacy of place and national guidance has been released to 
confirm this. The Board’s Joint Local Health & Wellbeing Strategy has 
informed the first Integrated Care Partnership Strategy produced by the 
Integrated Care Board.  

7 This is the seventh Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report, which 
outlines the key achievements of the Board during its ninth year of 
operation. The last HWB annual report was produced for 2018/19, there 
were no reports produced for 2019/20 or 2020/21 due to pressures of 
the pandemic response. 

8 The annual report includes examples of work the HWB has undertaken, 
or supported, between April 2021 and March 2022 which delivers 
against the strategic priorities detailed in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2021-25; and includes several case studies which show how 
the work of the HWB, and its sub-groups has impacted on people’s 
lives.  It also specifies the future challenges the HWB faces over the 
forthcoming year. 

9 The HWB continues to receive progress updates on Health and Social 
Care Integration, the Integrated Care System and on joint health and 
social care planning and commissioning activity and performance 
through the Better Care Fund. This includes receiving updates on the 
County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-
25, which sets out the health and care commissioning and delivery 
intentions for the lifetime of the population of County Durham from 
Starting Well, through Living Well, to Ageing Well. 

10 At its meeting on 28th September 2022, the Health and Wellbeing Board 
elected Cllr Chris Hood, Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services 
as its chair. Cllr Paul Sexton was Chair of the HWB from May 2021 to 
August 2022.  

What happened during the 12 months covered by the report 

11 The Covid-19 pandemic is one of the greatest public health challenges 
in living memory, with significant repercussions for health and wellbeing 
and as such was at the forefront of the HWB agenda for two years.  

Page 75



 

 

12 The HWB oversaw a Local Covid-19 Outbreak Management Plan 
(LOMP) which set out our plan to protect our local communities by 
preventing and controlling transmission of Covid-19. The plan included 
provision of clear prevention messages, rapid detection, and 
management of outbreaks, working with various settings to implement 
appropriate infection control measures and developing and applying 
intelligence, including the knowledge and insight provided by our 
communities.  

13 The HWB functioned as our Member led Local Outbreak Engagement 
Board to support and coordinate the ongoing response to Covid-19; 
utilise the Approach to Wellbeing Principles; and support local 
communities to understand the issues, provide a forum to ask questions 
and influence how recovery is planned at a local level.  

14 The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing has been adopted by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board as a means of ensuring all organisations 
and services within the county consider wellbeing as a common 
currency; it includes everything that is important to people and their 
lives. It is designed to ensure we involve people in decisions that affect 
them and devolve power to people, and the act of doing so, then has an 
impact on people’s wellbeing. This will invoke a culture where the 
wellbeing of the County’s residents is considered in every decision that 
is made whether this be regarding decisions about people or places, or 
the systems designed to support them. It is aligned to the County 
Durham Vision 2035.  

15 In June 2019 it was announced that County Durham will be part of a 
North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS), a 
collaboration of existing NHS commissioners and providers, as well as 
partners, working together to drive improvements in health, wealth, and 
wellbeing.  

16 The HWB was cited on these plans as they developed and from July 
2022 an Integrated Care Board (ICB) became the statutory NHS 
organisation replacing the 8 CCGs in the ICS, taking on their 
responsibilities to plan and deliver healthcare across 13 local authority 
(‘place’) areas. The ICB will delegate many of its functions to ‘place’ 
level. An Integrated Care Partnership of the ICB with local authorities is 
responsible for developing an Integrated Care Strategy built up from the 
needs assessment from each of the 13 Places.  

17 An ICB Director is now a key member of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and the HWB will work closely with the ICB and its place-based 
teams. 

Page 76



 

 

18 The following sections give examples of initiatives which have taken 
place to achieve the strategic objectives in the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25. 

All priorities 

19 Examples include: 

(a) HWB members have shared feedback with the Integrated Care 
System Programme Board and expressed strong views that 
County Durham is not disadvantaged in the new system. The 
County Durham Care Partnership sits within the governance 
structure of the Health and Wellbeing Board and its first Forum 
took place in November 2021. 

(b) The Health and Wellbeing Board received assurance on the 
commissioning intentions of the Integrated Health and Social 
Care Commissioning Team alongside the delivery intentions of 
NHS mental health, acute, community and primary care services 
through the County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 
2020-25.  

(c) The workstreams of the Mental Health Strategic Partnership (a 
subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board) have continued to 
progress planned deliverables whilst also reacting to the 
demands placed on them by Covid-19.  

As part of the Covid response, additional funding has instigated 
the development of several new initiatives to address the 
increased demands on mental health provision, including the 
development of a Mental Health and Wellbeing Alliance of 
providers; numerous campaigns to engage children, young 
people, and adults to address key issues; and work on a 
community mental health framework to support adults with a 
Serious Mental Illness.  

Priority 1: Starting Well 

20 Examples include:  

(a) In September 2021 the HWB supported the launch of the County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Framework for schools and 
education settings, to address both physical and emotional 
wellbeing and improve outcomes for children, young people, staff, 
and the education setting.  

The framework helps education settings to understand the 
importance of health and wellbeing and the close association with 

Page 77



 

 

progression, engagement, and attainment, and to make 
appropriate and informed choices according to their needs and 
evaluate impact and value for money.  

(b) Additional Covid support funding allowed local authorities and 
their partners to distribute food hampers to our most vulnerable 
families, food vouchers to care leavers, kinship carers and 
children during the school holidays, and help with fuel costs.  

Partners have continued to promote and raise awareness of the 
Healthy Start Vouchers for milk, baby milk and some foods, 
leading to an increase in uptake from 54 percent to 68 percent – 
higher than the regional and national average.  

(c) Continuing the Holiday Activities with Healthy Food project, 
during 2021, 381 Fun and Food projects were allocated funding 
for the Easter, Summer and Christmas holidays engaging 32,423 
children and young people, including 2,355 with additional needs.  

Priority 2: Living Well 

21 Examples include:  

(a) Despite significant progress in County Durham since 2005, adult 
smoking remains a key driver of health inequalities and therefore 
a priority for the HWB. The Tobacco Control Alliance sits within 
the governance structure of the HWB, and its strategic plan now 
embraces activity to address the impact of Covid on tobacco 
control. The alliance continues to work with FRESH on a 
denormalisation programme for tobacco across the region and a 
campaign was run between July 2021 and March 2022 to amplify 
the awareness of the health harms of smoking at a local level.  

The Stop Smoking Service retained a continuity of service during 
the pandemic, promoting quitting smoking as a way of reducing 
the harms caused by Covid.  Referrals into the service are 
continuing to increase. 

The Chair of the HWB also wrote to local MPs to advocate for the 
introduction of a “polluter tax” for tobacco manufacturing firms.  

(b) Housing is a key social determinant of health and the HWB 
recognises the need to work with colleagues to ensure all homes 
in County Durham provide a safe, inclusive, and secure 
environment for people to live and grow within their local 
community.  

Page 78



 

 

The HWB endorsed partners’ approach to addressing rough 
sleepers in County Durham. During 2020/21 and in the peak of 
the Covid-19 pandemic, partners worked to the Government’s 
‘Everybody In’ initiative, to identify and verify rough sleepers and 
house them in either temporary or secure accommodation. This 
work has been built on through various initiatives to increase the 
accommodation and support for rough sleepers including 
additional staff, and funding to assist with the shortfall on housing 
benefit in B&B accommodation, provide food parcels, assist with 
deposits/rent in advance for private landlords.  

(c) In response to increasing concerns about rising levels of alcohol 
consumption during the Covid-19 pandemic, the Health and 
Wellbeing board endorsed a number of campaign materials from 
Balance to be adopted across County Durham and cascaded to 
partners to maximise impact at a local level.  

Priority 3: Ageing Well 

22 Examples include: 

(a) To support our residents to be able to live independently for 
longer, the Health and Wellbeing Board endorsed a 5-year 
Council New Build Programme which outlines plans for delivery of 
500 affordable homes, with a large proportion dedicated for older 
persons accommodation including bungalows. 

(b) The Health and Wellbeing Board supports plans for an Ageing 
Well Health Needs Assessment (HNA) which will focus on people 
aged 50+, outlining how public health prevention can be used to 
help people age well in a healthy way. The HNA will make 
recommendations for this age group, which will be used to inform 
the Ageing Well Strategy (a key deliverable included in the JHWS 
2021-25).  The HNA will be structured around eight themes taken 
from the World Health Organisation’s (WHO) Age Friendly Cities 
framework, including Information and Advice, Transport, Social 
Participation, Housing and Economic Activity. It will also consider 
the disproportionate impact of the Covid pandemic on older 
people, particularly around social isolation, and loneliness 

Moving Forward 

23 In line with the statutory responsibilities of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, a new three-year Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) was 
approved in September 2022 and published in October 2022. The PNA 
is part of Durham Insight. Publication of the new PNA was delayed 
nationally due to services responding to the Covid pandemic. 

Page 79



 

 

24 Further work including strategies for Physical Activity, Falls, Oral Health 
and Ageing Well have been considered during 2022 in line with the 
HWB work programme.   

Future Challenges 

25 The Covid-19 pandemic has had significant repercussions for health 
and wellbeing, it has affected every part of our society and is likely to 
lead to lasting changes to how we live, work and play. As well as the 
direct health consequences of the Covid-19 virus, the subsequent 
restrictions have affected other areas of health and wellbeing including 
mental health, social isolation, and changes in eating, drinking and 
physical activity behaviours. The wider impacts continue to unfold, with 
concerns around the health of the economy, employment, education, 
business, and socio-economic inequalities.  

26 The ongoing pandemic has impacted disproportionately on certain 
people across the County, particularly our older population, people with 
existing/underlying health conditions such as diabetes and obesity, our 
Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic (BAME) populations as well as those 
living and working in more disadvantaged circumstances. 

27 At the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in March 2022 the Board 
discussed local and regional plans for transition to a ‘Living Safely with 
Covid’ response and how we embed this into wider health protection 
measures. We are taking forward the learning, expertise, good practice, 
flexibility, and collaborative relationships gained by all partners from the 
pandemic response. The Health and Wellbeing Board remains at the 
forefront of this approach.  

28 The current Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2021-25 sets 
out the following objectives across our three strategic priorities of 
Starting Well, Living Well and Ageing Well; chosen due to their 
importance given the impact they have on people’s health and where 
we want to be in 2025: 

 Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within 
County Durham and between County Durham and England 

 We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our 
residents not smoking and an ambition that pregnant women and 
mothers will not smoke 

 Decrease overall levels of unemployment and specifically close 
the employment gap between the general population and those 
living with a long term physical or mental health condition, or with 
a learning disability 

 Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children 
aged 10-11 years are of a healthy weight 

Page 80



 

 

 Improved mental health and wellbeing evidenced by increased 
self-reported wellbeing scores and reduced suicide rates 

 Increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at 
Work Award (to improve health and wellbeing interventions at 
work)  

 
29 The JHWS will be refreshed in 2023, giving an opportunity for the HWB 

to reflect on the latest insight from the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and the best format for the JHWS to have maximum 
impact in the current health and social care environment. The JHWS will 
continue to drive health and wellbeing improvements across the County 
linked to the County Durham Vision for 2035.  The review will also look 
to focus the Board in on fewer priorities in order to have the maximum 
impact on people’s lives and reducing health inequalities. The Board will 
work with the Integrated Care Board to align to the first Integrated Care 
Partnership Strategy.  CYPS/AWS Overview & Scrutiny Committees will 
be involved in the consultation on the reviewed JHWS. 

30 The cost of living crisis is having an impact on County Durham’s 
residents, with increases to food costs, utilities, and fuel.  More people 
are living with in-work poverty which has a profound effect on their 
mental health and wellbeing. Further work with the County Durham 
Economic Partnership will look at how we can support people into good 
jobs within the county to improve health inequalities. 

31 The Health and Care Act 2022 introduced new architecture to the health 
and care system, specifically the establishment of integrated care 
boards (ICBs) and integrated care partnerships (ICPs). The 
implementation of the Integrated Care System will continue to develop 
over the coming years and County Durham will ensure we contribute to 
this developing agenda to ensure our residents are not disadvantaged.  

32 There are also wider long-term system challenges to face including 
ensuring people live longer in good health, reducing life expectancy 
variations, improving healthy life expectancy in a climate of ongoing 
austerity, and reducing health inequalities in places where people live, 
work, learn and play. 

Next Steps 

33 Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to note the Health and 
Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22. 

Background papers 

 County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25  

Other useful documents 

Page 81

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/JointHealthAndWellbeingStrategy.pdf


 

 

 None 

Contact: Gordon Elliott Tel:  03000 263605 

Page 82



 

 

Appendix 1: Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (HSCA) places clear duties on local 
authorities and CCGs to prepare a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). The local authority must 
publish the JHWS. The Health and Wellbeing Board lead the development of 
the JSNA and JHWS. The Health and Care Act 2022 introduced new 
architecture to the health and care system, specifically the establishment of 
integrated care boards (ICBs) and integrated care partnerships (ICPs).  
Guidance for Health & Wellbeing Boards has recently been published.  

Finance 

Ongoing pressure on public services will challenge all agencies to consider 
how best to respond to the health, social care, and wellbeing agenda.   

Consultation 

Consultation with partners and members of the public is undertaken during 
development of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment is undertaken alongside the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.  

Climate Change  

There are no climate change implications. 

Human Rights 

No direct implications. 

Crime and Disorder 

Durham Insight provides information relating to crime and disorder. 

Staffing 

No direct implications. 

Accommodation 

No direct implications. 

Risk 

No direct implications. 

Procurement 

Page 83

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


 

 

The HSCA outlines that commissioners should take regard of the JSNA and 
JHWS when exercising their functions in relation to the commissioning of 
health and social care services.

Page 84



 

 

Appendix 2:  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 

 

The report is attached as a separate document. 

 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

‘County Durham is a 
healthy place where 
people live well, for 

longer’ 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board  
Annual Report 

2021-22 
 
 

 

Page 87



2 
 

Contents 
Welcome from Chair and Vice Chair ...................................................................4 

About the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board ...................................5 

Responsibilities ...................................................................................................5 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment ......................................................................5 

Approach to Wellbeing .......................................................................................6 

Governance and partnership working arrangements .........................................7 

Performance monitoring......................................................................................................................... 8 

The Health and Wellbeing Board response to Covid-19 ....................................................................... 11 

Update on priority areas in 2021-22 ..................................................................................................... 14 

All priorities ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Integrated Care System ................................................................................................................. 14 

Director of Public Health (DPH) Annual Report: Putting life into living ........................................ 14 

County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan .................................................. 15 

County Durham Care Partnership Executive, and Forum ............................................................. 15 

Health Protection annual assurance ............................................................................................. 15 

Winter Planning Arrangements .................................................................................................... 16 

Mental Health ............................................................................................................................... 16 

NHS Dentistry ................................................................................................................................ 17 

Marketing Campaigns ................................................................................................................... 17 

Starting Well ..................................................................................................................................... 18 

Healthy Framework for Schools .................................................................................................... 18 

Poverty .......................................................................................................................................... 19 

Holiday activities with Healthy Food ............................................................................................ 19 

Living Well ......................................................................................................................................... 20 

Tobacco control ............................................................................................................................ 20 

Housing and Health ....................................................................................................................... 22 

Rough Sleepers.............................................................................................................................. 22 

Alcohol and Drug Harms ............................................................................................................... 22 

Ageing Well ....................................................................................................................................... 23 

Ageing Well Health Needs Assessment (HNA) .............................................................................. 23 

Older Persons Accommodation .................................................................................................... 23 

Looking Forward ................................................................................................................................... 24 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2022-25 .................................................................................... 24 

Mental Health Strategic Partnership ................................................................................................ 24 

Health and Wellbeing Board Work programme ............................................................................... 24 

Page 88



3 
 

Challenges and opportunities for 2022 ................................................................................................ 24 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
If you would like more information about this report email HWB@durham.gov.uk 

Page 89

mailto:HWB@durham.gov.uk


4 
 

Welcome from Chair and Vice Chair 

Welcome to the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board annual report 2021-22.   
 
As Chair and Vice Chair we are privileged to have been supported by a wide range 
of partners who have gone above and beyond during an extremely challenging time 
to deliver on our shared vision to make County Durham a healthy place where 
people live well, for longer. 
 
The pandemic has impacted disproportionately on people across the County, 
particularly our older population, people with existing/underlying health conditions 
such as diabetes and obesity, our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
populations as well as those living and working in more disadvantaged 
circumstances. We have also seen how the virus has had a direct impact on our 
communities in terms of their health and also a wider indirect impact instigated by 
lockdown on mental wellbeing across the whole life course, exasperating issues and 
widening health, social and economic inequalities.   
 
Despite the challenges and the widening health inequalities, we have continued to 
deliver against our three priorities across the life course, and this annual report is 
testament to that with the examples of our achievements including several new 
initiatives to address the demand on mental health provision, launching the health 
and wellbeing framework for schools, and using additional Covid funding to actively 
engage and re-engage people who are inactive, into physical activity.  
 
The HWB met five times during 2021-22, these meetings took place virtually and in-
person to comply with changing government coronavirus guidance.   
 
As we move into a new way of working, with the Integrated Care System, we will 
ensure that County Durham is positioned well across the region and continues to 
work for the benefit of our communities.  
 
We would like to thank everyone, for their hard work and continued commitment in 
these unprecedented and challenging times. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Cllr Paul Sexton 
Portfolio Holder for Adults & Health 
Services (July 2021 – July 2022) 
Chair of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board (2021-22)  
Durham County Council 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Dr Stewart Findlay 
Vice Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board (July 2013-June 
2022) 
[previously] Chief Officer, County 
Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

Page 90



5 
 

About the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board 

The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is a strategic partnership, 

which sets the vision and direction for health and wellbeing across the county.  

The HWB’s vision is to ‘make County Durham a healthy 

place where people live well, for longer’.  To achieve this, 

we identified three strategic priorities in the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2021-25: 

 Starting well 

 Living well 

 Ageing well 

Responsibilities 

 
The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory committee of Durham 
County Council. The Board is committed to working together with key partners to set  
the direction and improve the health and wellbeing of the local population and reduce 
health inequalities. This includes working closely with County Durham overview and 
scrutiny committee to deliver a complementary work programme. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board has a number of statutory responsibilities:  
 

 Assess the health and wellbeing needs of the local population and how they 

can be addressed through a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). 

 Produce and implement a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) based 

on the information in the JSNA. 

 Promote integrated working and joining up services across health, public 

health and social care services. 

 Work closely with organisations or departments who provide services related 

to the wider determinants of health. 

 Produce a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment. 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) in County Durham builds a picture of 

current and future health and wellbeing needs of local people. It is a suite of 

resources locally that helps to inform the planning and improvement of local services 

and guides us in making the best use of funding available. We use it to shape joint 

commissioning priorities to improve health and wellbeing as well as reduce health 

inequalities in our communities.  

As we look beyond the Covid-19 pandemic it is vital that we understand the 

protective factors and strengths across communities. This combined view of both 

needs and assets (building on our Approach to Wellbeing) will allow us to build a 

Page 91



6 
 

broader understanding of health and wellbeing and how we can support and protect 

the health of our local communities.  

Approach to Wellbeing  

The Health and Wellbeing Board has championed the County Durham Approach to 

Wellbeing and its implementation across the County Durham Partnership. The 

Approach is evidence-based, asset-based and seeks to involve communities in 

decisions that affect them, in order to achieve better health outcomes. The Approach 

comprises of seven wellbeing principles which have evolved in partnership and now 

form the basis of a new self-assessment framework which can be used by 

organisations to reflect on how they could support better health and wellbeing 

outcomes across our communities.

Community partners are supportive of this approach and feedback has been 

positive: 

“…..this wellbeing approach could work and would make a difference now….. is 

very much about giving the power back, or moving the power back out into the 

community” 

“……rather than thinking ‘patients’ we need to think about ‘partners’…. we need 

people to start to take responsibility for their wellbeing and not be patients 

themselves but actually be citizens, residents and not just service users but actual 

genuine partners in their wellbeing” 

“I suppose that’s the kind of overall goal isn’t it that people don’t ever need to see 

the model people just work in that way because that’s the right thing to do and there 

is that culture and system wide change that means that you don’t have to sit down 

with a set of principles and say to people this is how you need to be working or this 

is how you should be working in order to improve the wellbeing, that people just do 

it” 

 

Page 92



7 
 

Governance and partnership working arrangements 

The County Durham Partnership is the overarching strategic 

partnership in County Durham, with thematic boards leading on 

the priorities in the County Durham Vision 2035. These are the 

Health and Wellbeing Board, Safe Durham Partnership, 

Economic Partnership, Environment and Climate Change 

Partnership and County Durham Together Partnership. 

Effective joint working takes place between these strategic 

partnerships to improve outcomes for residents in County 

Durham.  

There are close links between the statutory Durham 

Safeguarding Children and Durham Safeguarding Adult 

Partnerships and the Health and Wellbeing Board to provide assurance that effective 

safeguarding arrangements are in place. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board governance structure includes responsibility for 

Mental Health, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities, Physical Activity, Healthy 

Weight and Tobacco Control, as well as health and care integration.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Health-and-Wellbeing-Board-Governance-Structure-PDF.pdf


8 
 

Performance monitoring 

Monitoring performance against the JHWS is important to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board. Below is an idea of the direction of travel on several of the key performance 

indicators. 

The JHWS features six objectives across our three strategic priorities of starting well, 
living well and ageing well. These are long-term health and wellbeing outcomes 
which take time to show meaningful change. This update is intended to demonstrate 
the impact of our work has on the trajectory of people’s health and outline where we 
aim to be in 2025. 
 

 Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County 
Durham and between County Durham and England. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our 
residents not smoking and an ambition that pregnant women and 
mothers will not smoke. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



9 
 

 Decrease overall levels of unemployment and specifically close the 
employment gap between the general population and those living 
with a long term physical or mental health condition, or with a 
learning disability 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children aged 
10-11 years are of a healthy weight. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Improved mental health and wellbeing evidenced by self-reported 
wellbeing scores and reduced suicide rates. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



10 
 

 Increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at 
Work Award (to improve health and wellbeing interventions at 
work). 
 
 
 

  

Page 96



11 
 

The Health and Wellbeing Board response to Covid-19  

The Covid-19 pandemic has been at the forefront of the work of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board throughout 2021-22 as all services responded to a changing 

situation which has affected every part of our society. Throughout the pandemic 

local, regional and national partners have worked together to deliver local 

interventions and to protect and support our residents, families, businesses, social 

care, community organisations, and NHS structures in County Durham. 

The HWB has overseen the Local Covid-

19 Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) 

which was developed to deliver our Covid-

19 response and protect our communities 

from the virus. The plan includes a range of 

actions including the rollout of the Covid-19 

vaccination programme, our local Covid-19 

testing offer and support to our 

communities, particularly those who are 

vulnerable or needing to self-isolate. Partners worked across key settings (including 

care homes, schools, workplaces and a variety of community settings) to rapidly 

detect and manage outbreaks and implement appropriate infection control 

measures. 

The HWB has also overseen the allocation and expenditure of the Contain Outbreak 

Management Funding (COMF). This funding was provided to Local Authorities from 

central government for public health purposes to mitigate the impact of Covid-19 in 

local areas. During the pandemic a total of £23.9 million was provided to County 

Durham.  

COMF has supported a diverse range of projects including increasing access to 

testing and vaccination, supporting re-engagement with physical activity, improving 

the quality of life for people living with long covid and for improving wellbeing for 

people currently on NHS waiting lists, targeted work to support vulnerable 

populations including those needing emergency housing, Not in Education, 

Employment and Training (NEET), and children and young people experiencing 

mental health issues. Evaluations from the bids have shown how this funding has 

helped to develop future programmes and service plans. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board functioned as a Member-led Local Outbreak 

Engagement Board to answer crucial questions posed by members of the public 

around the pandemic and response.  

Page 97



12 
 

The County Durham Together Community Hub was introduced in March 2020 as 

a single point of access for people in County Durham who required support to remain 

at home because they had to shield or self-isolate. Initially the focus of the Hub was 

around provision of food, but the remit of the hub adapted to the needs of 

communities through the different phases of the pandemic, based on continuous 

feedback and built on assets within communities.  

 

Sacriston Youth Project Food for Thought project which was created in March 

2020 and ran throughout 2021/22 provided care packages, hot food provision, 

prescription collection, advice and information and a doorstep befriending service 

using 30 volunteers. At their peak the service received calls for help from 7am – 

10pm, 7 days a week with approximately 80% of the people who were supported 

were unknown to the project prior to the pandemic.  

As of January 2022, the Food for Thought Project is now a permanent part of 

Sacriston Youth and Community Project’s offer. The elements of the project include 

care packages, debt management support, white goods and digital poverty support, 

school uniform bank, community shelves/larder and information/advice/guidance/ 

signposting.  

Wellbeing for the time being is an integrated patient focused service development 

within County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) to support 

patients currently on the waiting list for surgery and patients with a recent diagnosis 

of cancer awaiting treatment.  

Patient needed support with chest clearance which has since improved with 
breathing exercise support. Lots of advice given on energy conservation and pacing 
although patient is currently maintaining a fairly good activity level.  

  
The patient is to receive weekly telephone reviews as chemo hasn’t started yet.   

  
Surgeon Feedback on pilot:  
“Good to see the referral process is working. Just need to work on patient 
engagement now! Really keen to support this as definitely has impact on patient 
outcomes. Keep up the good work! Delighted you have funding for another year”  
 

Page 98



13 
 

The Covid-19 Community Champions Programme recruited people 

representative of our communities to become volunteer Champions who shared 

important information with their local communities and provided feedback to the 

HWB on what local people think is going well, what can be done better and any 

questions. This enabled organisational and professional responses to be shaped by 

local intelligence and ensured information was being shared in the best way for each 

community.  

As the pandemic has progressed the Champions programme has continued to 

evolve in line with public health messaging, to promote the vaccination programme 

and respond to issues identified within communities with a focus on reducing 

inequalities.   

The rollout of the Covid-19 vaccination programme 

across County Durham began in December 2020 and is 

ongoing. Vaccinations have a critical role to play in the 

fight against Covid-19 and the vaccination programme 

has seen high uptake rates across County Durham.  

The Health and Wellbeing Board has 

been supportive of significant work 

by partners to ensure equitable 

access to the Covid-19 vaccination 

programme in all sections of the population. Specific promotional 

activity is aimed at grass roots level and targets low uptake 

communities.  

Between May and November 2021 mobile pop-up vaccination 

clinics were delivered in communities. Alongside community engagement activities 

and supported by Covid-19 Awareness Co-ordinators and Covid-19 Champions the 

interventions were well received and thought to impact positively on vaccine uptake.  

January 2021 saw the transfer of national NHS Test and Trace tracing services to 

County Durham Together under the umbrella of the Local Tracing Partnership 

(LTP). The LTP continued to support the national NHS Test and Trace tracing 

services, prioritising geographies with lower vaccine uptake, higher than expected 

rates of Covid-19 and those where engagement with NHS Test and Trace had been 

low.  

At the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in March 2022 the Board discussed local 

and regional plans for transition to a ‘Living Safely with Covid’ response and how 

we embed this into wider health protection measures. We intend to take forward the 

learning, expertise, good practice, flexibility and collaborative relationships gained by 

all partners from the response over the last two years. The Health and Wellbeing 

Board will remain at the forefront of this approach.  

 

 

Page 99



14 
 

Update on priority areas in 2021-22 

All priorities 

Integrated Care System 

Plans are progressing regionally for the Integrated Care System – 
County Durham will be part of the North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care Board. HWB members have shared feedback with 
the Integrated Care System Programme Board and expressed 
strong views that County Durham is not disadvantaged in the new 
system. 
 
Implementation of the new Integrated Care System is from 1st July 2022. 

Director of Public Health (DPH) Annual Report: Putting life into living 

The Director of Public Health is a statutory member of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, one of the statutory 
requirements of the Director of Public Health is to produce an annual report about 
the health of the local population.  The local authority has a duty to publish the 
report.  

In addition to recognising our response and recovery to the Covid-19 pandemic, the 
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021 brings to a close the last four DPH 
annual reports which have introduced us to the Taylor family and looked at progress 
against the seven priorities to promote and protect the health and wellbeing of the 
people of County Durham. This report focuses on promoting and supporting positive 
behaviours across our communities so we can achieve and sustain active lives 
which includes the Active 30 campaign to help schools across the County support 
every pupil to participate in the recommended 30 minutes of activity every day at 
school. It also details the work of the County Durham Tobacco Alliance to reduce the 
impact of smoking on families and reduce the exposure to second-hand smoke. 

Providing high quality drug and alcohol services to work with families to ensure a 
joined-up systems approach across County Durham is really important including 
establishing outreach facilities in the local community to ensures services are 
accessible to those most in need. 

Working together, in a joined-up way across health and care services, benefits and 
advice services, as well as the VCS can ensure that the needs of people with long 
term conditions, and their families and carers are met. Over 1,200 people have 
benefitted from Macmillan Joining the Dots, a cancer support programme, designed 
by people who have lived experience of cancer. Most of these have been people 
who have a diagnosis of cancer, but there is also a strong element of support for 
family and carers. 

 

 

 

 

Page 100

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s148671/Appendix%202%20DPH%20Annual%20Report%202021.pdf


15 
 

County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan  

The County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-25 sets out the health 

and care commissioning intentions of the system – how we will achieve the 

objectives in the JHWS. The Health and Wellbeing Board receives assurance on the 

commissioning intentions of the Integrated Health and Social Care Commissioning 

Team alongside the delivery intentions of NHS mental health, acute, community and 

primary care services.  

The plan reflects an increasing maturity of the health and care system in County 

Durham to collaboratively plan, measure, and deliver integrated services, whilst 

tackling the health inequalities within the county, and addressing the legacy of Covid-

19. 

To support the move towards a coproduction model each chapter of the plan is 

summarised. The website will enable communities to provide feedback on content. It 

is hoped that this engagement will facilitate improvements in participation and 

coproduction from non-statutory partners in future editions of the plan.  

County Durham Care Partnership 

Executive and Forum  

The County Durham Care 

Partnership sits within the governance structure of the HWB. It’s first Forum took 

place in November 2021, which brought together health and social care and 

voluntary organisations to achieve improved health and wellbeing for the people of 

County Durham. Attendees raised concerns about the forthcoming changes and 

were encouraged to share their feedback at relevant forums regarding the place-

based arrangements and the need to ensure County Durham was not disadvantaged 

within the new arrangements. 

The collaborative approach of this Forum will help to develop place-based 

integration, which will avoid unnecessary admissions to acute care, giving people 

better outcomes and maximising the available resources. 

Health Protection annual assurance 

The HWB accepted that there were effective assurance processes in place for 

communicable disease control, strategic regulation intervention and emergency 

preparedness.  

Key achievements of the Health Protection Assurance and Development Group 

included improvements in flu vaccination uptake amongst eligible groups, sustained 

delivery of national immunisations programmes and the Antenatal and Newborn 

Screening programme. 

Most of our screening programmes have been impacted by the multiple waves of the 
pandemic and we are continuously working to get these back on track, whilst 
learning lessons to improve the uptake of certain vaccinations, the rates of 
vaccination amongst adolescents and ensure equitable coverage and uptake of 
screening and immunisation programmes. 

Page 101

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/county-durham-place-based-commissioning-and-delivery-plan-2020-25/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/county-durham-place-based-commissioning-and-delivery-plan-2020-25/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/county-durham-place-based-commissioning-and-delivery-plan-2020-25/


16 
 

Winter Planning Arrangements 

Planning for Winter 2021/22 predicted it to be one of the most challenging for public 

services, with a surge in demand caused by a combination of Covid-19, RSV (a 

respiratory virus that infects the lungs and breathing passages of children), flu, 

staffing pressures and entering the winter with already unprecedented demand). 

Partners worked together across more areas than ever before to coordinate activity 

and prioritise work at this challenging time, including health (primary and acute 

services), social care, public health and a range of council services. 

Mental Health  

Evidence continues to build, highlighting the impact of Covid-19 inequalities and 
mental health and emotional wellbeing. The entire system has experienced a 
significant and sustained increase in demand for mental health and emotional 
wellbeing support, especially in the past 18 months.  

The workstreams of the Mental Health Strategic Partnership (a subgroup of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board) have continued to progress planned deliverables whilst 
also reacting to the demands placed on them by Covid-19, in five key areas: 

 Children and Young People 

 Suicide Prevention 

 Crisis Care 

 Dementia 

 Resilient Communities 

The work of the County Durham Suicide Prevention Alliance has been maintained 

during 2021/22 including the ongoing monitoring of potential deaths by suicide via 

the Real Time Data Surveillance (RTDS) system. The RTDS system triggers post-

vention referrals to support individuals, families and friends to help reduce the 

negative impact of the death on our local communities. Work continues to monitor 

high-frequency locations across the County and to also provide support for 

vulnerable groups including those who self-harm, men aged 35-45, Veterans and 

substance misusers. There has been no statistical increase in the number of 

potential deaths by suicide in County Durham during 2021/22.  

In January 2022 funding for a new mental health and employment service was 

agreed, to provide additional support to help people with poor mental health find and 

maintain employment.  

As part of the Covid response, additional funding has instigated the development of 
several new initiatives to address the increased demands on mental health provision.  

 Campaigns have been initiated to engage children, young people and adults 
and address issues such as mental health in the workplace, community 
issues such as social isolation, low level anxiety and debt.  

 Work on a Community Mental Health Framework to support adults with a 
Serious Mental Illness access evidence-based treatment within their Primary 
Care Network and transform services for complex emotional needs, adult 
eating disorders and community rehabilitation, has progressed.  

Page 102



17 
 

 A Mental Health and Wellbeing Alliance has been developed, bringing 
together a number of providers to address the wider determinants influencing 
mental health; helping prevent entry (and re-entry) into statutory health and 
social care systems; reducing suicide; preventing negative outcomes 
associated with mental health issues and promoting positive outcomes related 
to good mental health and wellbeing. The Alliance will be launched on 1st April 
2022.  

 A Mental Health Resilience Team was created to respond to local people’s 
mental health and wellbeing needs who have been impacted directly from 
Covid-19, including Covid-19 survivors; mental health impact of lockdown on 
vulnerable groups; moral injury amongst all front line groups (from any 
sector).  

 In order to maximise the potential of the Voluntary and Community Sector and 
support grass roots organisations, funding grants were issued to voluntary 
organisations and community groups to provide mental health and wellbeing 
support to local populations.  

NHS Dentistry 

NHS dental practices have been operating at significantly reduced capacity whilst 
adhering to national infection control guidance related to the nature of dental practice 
causing increased likelihood of Covid-19 infection spread. It has been necessary for 
dental practices to triage patients who contact them to ensure patients with the 
greatest clinical need. Those requiring urgent dental care and vulnerable patients 
(including children) are prioritised. The Health and Wellbeing Board received 
assurance that all opportunities are being explored to increase the clinical treatment 
capacity available.  

Marketing Campaigns  

HWB partners have supported a coordinated approach to key public health 

marketing campaigns which have an impact on health inequalities and early deaths.  

Campaigns supported include: 

 Regional Don’t Wait Campaign and localised Durham amplification 

Collaborating with the Stop Smoking Service and FRESH regional tobacco 

control programme, a County Durham campaign raising awareness to risks of 

smoking, benefits of quitting and access to local Stop Smoking Service was 

targeted in areas of high smoking prevalence. TV ads were shown on ITV On 

Demand featuring Dr Ruth Sharrock Hope and Harm videos. The campaign 

was promoted via community bus shelters, Go North East/Arriva bus sides, 

localised posters, flyers, digital screens, and paid promotion via Facebook.  

 Ask for ANI is a mental health and wellbeing campaign which encourages 

people to ask if they need support from police or other domestic abuse 

support services.  ‘ANI’ stands for Action Needed Immediately and is a 

pharmacy offer of a private space and phone.  

 

 

 

Page 103

https://mobile.twitter.com/FreshSmokeFree/status/1407618987350007814


18 
 

 World Breastfeeding Week/Big Latch On  

Partners used their resources to raise awareness of World Breastfeeding 

Week across social media channels, driving traffic to The Global Big Latch On 

event, which took place virtually.  

 Physical Activity 

Additional Covid funding was used to proactively engage and re-engage 

people who are inactive into physical activity within their local community, and 

to instil key health behavioural messages as we recover from the Covid19 

pandemic. The ‘Move’ campaign launched in September with over 191 one to 

one appointments booked as of 11 October.  

 

Our marketing and communications activity has supported the changes to the Covid-

19 Government Roadmap, including a regional approach to key messages with the 

strapline ‘Covid Safe County’. Regular social media, outdoor ads and updated web 

pages have supported prevention work in response to outbreaks and changes in 

guidance, the Covid vaccination programme and promoted health and wellbeing 

services with the general population, education settings, parents, prisons and other 

targeted groups.  

Starting Well 

Healthy Framework for Schools  

In September 2021 the Health and Wellbeing 
Board launched the County Durham Health 
and Wellbeing Framework for schools and 
education settings. The framework was 
developed collaboratively with schools, DCC 
Education Services and Harrogate and District 
Foundation Trust (HDFT), to address both 
physical and emotional wellbeing and improve 
outcomes for children, young people, staff and 
the education setting.  

Education settings play an important role in 
supporting young people with their mental 
health by providing stability, routine and 
consistency. They also offer protective factors 
for young people through a connection to 
trusted adults such as teachers or pastoral 

Page 104



19 
 

support. Increasing evidence exists demonstrating the close association between the 
wellbeing of pupils and their educational outcomes.   

The framework helps education settings to understand the importance of health and 
wellbeing and the close association with progression, engagement and attainment, 
and to make appropriate and informed choices according to their needs and evaluate 
impact and value for money.  

Poverty 

Additional Covid support funding was used to enable local authorities to support 
people struggling with the cost of food, energy and water bills, and other associated 
costs arising from the pandemic. Food hampers were distributed to our most 
vulnerable families, food vouchers to care leavers, kinship carers and children during 
the school holidays. Vulnerable households with children were supported to keep 
them safe, secure and have access to cooking facilities over the winter period, 
including help with fuel costs.  

To help increase the uptake of Healthy Start Vouchers for milk, baby milk and some 
foods, partners have continued to promote and raise awareness of the programme 
through staff training and communications. The focus on uptake has led to an 
increase from 54 percent to 68 percent – higher than the regional and national 
average.   

Funding has been allocated to setting up ten food hubs through the ‘That Bread and 
Butter Thing’. Approximately 50 families engage with each of the five operational 
hubs each week – which provides access to low-cost food and access to advice and 
provides a stepping stone from the crisis support through food banks and through 
the Welfare Assistance Scheme. Work is underway with community groups to open 
a further five hubs in the coming months. 

Holiday activities with Healthy Food 

Continuing the Holiday Activities with Healthy Food (HAWHF) project, the group 
have worked together with the Area Action Partnerships to develop, administer and 
distribute funding for enriching holiday activities with healthy food over the school 
holiday periods 
 
During 2021, 381 Fun and Food projects were allocated funding for the Easter, 
Summer and Christmas holidays, through the funding from the Department for 
Education, engaging 32,423 children and young people including 2,355 with 
additional needs. 

Government funding does not include half term holidays, however additional funding 
was secured from Durham County Council to provide enriching activities and 
experiences with healthy food for the May and October 2021 and February 2022 
holidays, funding 181 different projects in total. 

A dedicated web page has been set up for the project 
www.durham.gov.uk/funandfood along with a facebook group 
https://www.facebook.com/groups/funandfoodcountydurham/. Videos of previous  
activities can be viewed at Videos of previous activities - Durham County Council 
 

Page 105

http://www.durham.gov.uk/funandfood
https://www.facebook.com/groups/funandfoodcountydurham/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/25530/Videos-of-previous-activities


20 
 

Living Well 

Better Health at Work Award 

The BHAWA gives a framework for workplace health. The award asks businesses to 

promote campaigns and deliver interventions and activities to promote positive 

health.  

 

New College Durham - Better Health at Work Award case study: 

The College recognises and takes seriously its commitment to promoting a supportive culture 

that recognises the importance and value of staff wellbeing and the positive impact that this 

can have on recruitment and retention of staff and students. 

Being involved in the Better Health at Work Award has allowed us to look at our offer of 

wellbeing activities for staff and students and led to the creation and delivery of a calendar of 

wellbeing events. This has allowed for significant collaboration between those staff leading 

on the staff and students’ mental health and wellbeing strategies, notably Human Resources 

and Occupational Health staff and student support services. It has allowed us to. 

 Create a positive working environment that supports mental health and wellbeing, 

creating a culture of openness by lifting the stigma surrounding mental health. 

 Ensure that Governors, Staff and Students recognise and embrace that mental 

health and wellbeing is the responsibility of everyone. 

 Enhance the support available to staff and to increase awareness of and 

participation in wellbeing activities and initiatives. 

It is recognised that there are tangible benefits from such a collaborative approach in 

demonstrating that health and wellbeing is a strategic priority for the College in terms of staff 

and students.  

Some campaigns that have taken place: 

Wellbeing 

 New You have engaged 20 staff in two weight loss, health and wellbeing programmes. 

 Dedicated health and wellbeing budget and staff who have specific wellbeing roles, 

including a Health and Wellbeing Coach and Occupational Health Technician.  

 

 

New College Durham New You Group January 2022 

 

 

 

Page 106



21 
 

 

Tobacco control 

Adult smoking in County Durham has nearly halved since 2005 but remains a key 
driver of health inequalities and therefore a priority for the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. The Tobacco Control Alliance strategic plan now embraces activity to 
address the impact of Covid on tobacco control. 

FRESH continues to work on a denormalization programme 
for tobacco control across the region. A campaign was run 
between July 2021 and March 2022 to amplify the 
awareness of the health harms of smoking at a local level.  

The Stop Smoking Service has retained a continuity of 

service during the pandemic, promoting quitting smoking as 

a way of reducing the harms caused by Covid.  Referrals into the service are 

continuing to increase, with numbers of quit dates being set and smokers quitting at 

4-week follow-up being maintained.  

 

The Chair of the HWB also wrote to local MPs to advocate for the introduction of a 

“polluter tax” for tobacco manufacturing firms. 

Case study: 

KL (25) quit smoking in March 2021, after finding out she was pregnant.  
 
“I wanted to quit as soon as I found out I was pregnant. It was knowing anything I 
put in body goes to the baby, too. Obviously I didn’t want to risk having a premature 
baby and all of the other risks to my baby’s health as well as my own.” 

  
K had given up smoking during a previous pregnancy but started again once she’d 

had her baby and started socialising with friends. She found smoking was having an 

impact on her day-to-day life.  

“After I’d do something I’d go for a tab, which takes about 5 mins so that’s an hour a 

day spent just going for tabs. If I was in the middle of something I would have to 

stop doing it just to go for a tab.” 

New College Durham - Better Health at Work Award continued: 

Mental Health  

 Thirty staff have completed Level 2 mental health qualification, we have held 

variety of events where we have invited external partners in to share 

information with staff and students including Kooth and Qwell, Samaritans, If 

U Care Share and many more. 

 In support of these efforts the College has signed up to AOC Mental Health 

Charter, DfE for Wellbeing Charter and Durham County Council Schools and 

Education Settings Health and Wellbeing Framework. 

 

Page 107



22 
 

 

Housing and Health 

Housing is a key social determinant of health and the Health and Wellbeing Board 
recognises the need to work with colleagues to ensure homes in County Durham 
provide a safe, inclusive and secure environment for people to live and grow within 
their local community. This includes accessing funding to improve heating and 
insulation systems, helping people with money management to pay their fuel bills, 
developing a hospital discharge protocol and facilitating early intervention to reduce 
hospital admissions.  

Rough Sleepers 

The HWB endorsed partners’ approach to addressing rough sleepers in County 
Durham. During 2020/21 and in the peak of the Covid-19 pandemic, partners worked 
to the Governments ‘Everybody In’ initiative, to identify and verify rough sleepers and 
house them in either temporary or secure accommodation. This work has been built 
on through various initiatives to increase the accommodation and support for rough 
sleepers including additional staff, and funding to assist with the shortfall on housing 
benefit in B&B accommodation, provide food parcels, assist with deposits/rent in 
advance for private landlords.  

This has included Public Health and Housing colleagues working closely together to 
ensure hard to reach groups including rough sleepers and the Gypsy Roma Traveller 
(GRT) community are communicated with in relation to receiving the Covid-19 
vaccination.  

Alcohol and Drug Harms 

In response to increasing concerns about rising levels of alcohol consumption during 
Covid-19, particularly amongst people who were already drinking above the Chief 
Medical Officer’s low risk guidelines, and who were likely to be drinking even more 
as a result of pressure and anxiety during the pandemic, the Health and Wellbeing 
board endorsed a number of campaign materials from Balance to be adopted across 
County Durham and cascaded to partners to maximise impact at a local level 

 “Alcohol - Not the Answer” was re-launched in February 2022 to underline 
the broad range of physical and mental health problems alcohol causes, why 

Case study continued: 

K used a temporary vape and patches with support from a Stop Smoking Advisor. 

“The patches really helped reduce cravings… Having the patch felt like I didn’t know 

I even used to smoke; I just wasn’t bothered.” 

K feels good about being an ‘ex-smoker’ and noticed improvements to her health.  

“I’ve saved a lot of money for the bairn – over £700 since quitting. I’ve been putting 

the money away which will go towards Christmas for the kids….Also, I feel like I can 

breathe again – I can go outside and not feel like I’m struggling.” 

 

Page 108



23 
 

it is important to reduce drinking, and was targeted at men and women of all 
ages who are drinking more during Covid-19. 

 In May 2021, Balance launched the next phase of this campaign, “What’s the 

harm?”, aimed at helping North East parents to understand the Chief Medical 

Officer’s guidance around children and alcohol. The summer is often a peak 

time for teenage alcohol consumption, but the easing of lockdown has moved 

some of the issues usually experienced during the summer holidays forward 

in some local areas. The 2021 campaign’s key messages highlight how 

alcohol consumption before the age of 18 can harm the developing body and 

brain, raise depression and anxiety and lead to risk taking behaviour.  

 

Key messages include trying not to stockpile alcohol and limit the amount of alcohol 

bought, opting for non-alcoholic drinks to help stay within the 14 unit low-risk weekly 

guidelines, the importance of being a good role model to your kids around alcohol, 

which includes how often and how much alcohol is consumed.  

Ageing Well 

Ageing Well Health Needs Assessment (HNA)  

The Health and Wellbeing Board supports plans for an Ageing Well Health Needs 
Assessment focussed on people aged 50+, outlining how public health prevention 
can be used to help people age well in a healthy way. The HNA will make 
recommendations for this age group, which will be used to inform the Ageing Well 
Strategy (a key deliverable included in the JHWS 2021-25).  The HNA will be 
structured around eight themes taken from the World Health Organisation’s (WHO) 
Age Friendly Cities framework, including Information and Advice, Transport, Social 
Participation, Housing and Economic Activity. It will also consider the 
disproportionate impact of the Covid pandemic on older people, particularly around 
social isolation and loneliness 

Older Persons Accommodation 

To support our residents to be able to live independently for longer, the Health and 
Wellbeing Board endorsed a 5-year Council New Build Programme which outlines 
plans for delivery of 500 affordable homes, with a large proportion dedicated for 
older persons accommodation including bungalows. 

 

Page 109



24 
 

Looking Forward 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2022-25  

In line with the statutory responsibilities of the Health and Wellbeing Board, a three-

year Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) was approved in April 2018.   

A PNA considers the health needs of the population, the provision of pharmaceutical 

services commissioned by NHS England and Improvement that can support health 

needs, and therefore whether there are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical service 

delivery over a 3-year period. The PNA is part of Durham Insight. 

Publication of the new PNA was delayed due to services responding to the Covid 

pandemic and the PNA is due to be agreed by the HWB in September 2022 and will 

be published in October 2022. 

Mental Health Strategic Partnership 

The Health and Wellbeing Board supports a refresh of the Mental Health Strategic 

Partnership for County Durham. Agreement has been reached to add value to the 

current workstreams for children and young people, suicide prevention, crisis care, 

dementia and resilient communities by linking-in the Mental Health Alliance, Mental 

Health Resilience Hubs and other initiatives developed during the Covid-19 

response. This will support a coordinated, system-wide response to addressing the 

mental health and wellbeing needs of our local communities.  

Health and Wellbeing Board Work programme 

A work programme has been developed for the coming year which includes: 

 Physical Activity Strategy 

 Breastfeeding Friendly Buildings 

 Falls Strategy 

 Oral Health Strategy 

 Refresh of Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 Ageing Well Strategy 

Challenges and opportunities for 2022 

The year that this annual report covers has been difficult and unprecedented for our 
residents and those in the health and care professions that have worked tirelessly 
through Covid-19 and the pandemic. The Health and Wellbeing Board has received 
updates on infection rates, testing and the roll out of the vaccination programme, 
along with regular updates on the planned phased recovery during what will be a 
challenging year to come.  

The learning from the previous year will re-shape our services and priorities along 
with continuing to influence our strong partnership working.  

We will refresh our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 2023 and will take this 
learning into account and work with our communities on those issues that will have a 
wide reaching benefit, including through regional work with the Integrated Care 
System. 

Page 110



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

16 JANUARY 2023

P
age 111



• The HWB’s vision is to ‘make County Durham a healthy 
place where people live well, for longer’ 

• To achieve this, we identified three strategic priorities in the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2021-25:

• Starting well

• Living well

• Ageing well

• This is the 7th Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report

County Durham Health and Wellbeing 
Board

P
age 112



• Health and Wellbeing Board:
• functioned as a Member-led Local Outbreak Engagement                 

Board to answer crucial questions posed by members of                       
the public around the pandemic and response. 

• oversaw the Local Covid Outbreak Management Plan                   
and the allocation and expenditure of the Contain Outbreak 
Management Funding

• Introduction of County Durham Together, as well as Covid Champions 
programme which drew on volunteers within our communities.  

• Covid vaccination programme and the mobile vaccination clinics were 
critical in our fight against covid, as well as the local tracing partnership 
which supported the national NHS Test and Trace service.

COVID-19

P
age 113



Integrated Care System

• From 1 July 2022, County Durham became part 
of the North East and North Cumbria Integrated 
Care Board. 

• The County Durham Care Partnership sits 
within the governance structure of the HWB.

• The CDCP Executive agreed to host Forum meetings 
three times a year to bring together health and social 
care providers with voluntary and community service 
organisations to achieve improved health and 
wellbeing for the people of County Durham

• This collaborative approach helps develop place-
based integration, to avoid unnecessary admissions 
to acute care, giving people better outcomes and 
maximising available resources.

P
age 114



HWB marketing campaigns

The HWB continues to promote a coordinated approach to key 
public health campaigns, sharing information and materials with 
partners about campaigns which have an impact on health 
inequalities and early deaths.

P
age 115



Starting Well

• Partners raised awareness of the Healthy Start programme 

leading to an increase in uptake from 54 percent to 68 

percent – higher than the regional and national average.  

• Launched Health and Wellbeing Framework for Schools 

and education settings to help education settings to 

understand the importance of health and wellbeing and 

the close association with progression, engagement and 

attainment

P
age 116



Living Well

• Adult smoking in County Durham has nearly 
halved since 2005 but remains a key driver of 
health inequalities and is a priority for the Health 
and Wellbeing Board

“I’ve saved a lot of money for the bairn –
over £700 since quitting. I’ve been putting 
the money away which will go towards 
Christmas for the kids….Also, I feel like I 
can breathe again – I can go outside and 
not feel like I’m struggling.”

• New College Durham recognised that health 
and wellbeing is a strategic priority for the 
College in terms of staff and students.

P
age 117



Ageing Well

• The Health and Wellbeing Board supports plans 
for an Ageing Well Health Needs Assessment 
focussed on people aged 50+, outlining how 
public health prevention can be used to help 
people age well in a healthy way. 

• To support our residents to be able to live 
independently for longer, the Health and 
Wellbeing Board endorsed a 5-year Council New 
Build Programme which outlines plans for delivery 
of 500 affordable homes, with a large proportion 
dedicated for older persons accommodation 
including bungalows.

P
age 118



Challenges/Opportunities 

• From 1 July 2022, County Durham became part of the North 
East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board (ICB) 

• HWB members shared feedback with the Integrated Care System and 
worked hard to ensure that County Durham is not disadvantaged in the 
new system and that its place based work is considered in the new 
approach

• Adopted set of principles in developing relationships

• Work has taken place to build relationships with new ICB 
representatives

• Refresh of Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy         
for 2023-25 – looking at few priorities to have the maximum 
impact on health inequalities and years of life lost

• Funding moving forward/Fair Funding Formula

P
age 119



Thank you

Any questions?

P
age 120



 

             

       

 Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee Report 

16th January 2023  

Annual Report 2021/22 Durham 

Safeguarding Adults Partnership 

(DSAP) 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 

Councillor Chris Hood, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and 
Health Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present to Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (AWHOSC) the Annual Report for 2021/2022 of the Durham 
Safeguarding Adults Partnership (DSAP), which provides assurance of 
safeguarding adults activity across County Durham. 

2 To present the accompanying suite of documents including the Annual 
Report on a Page (Appendix 2) and Easy Read version (Appendix 3). 
The full suite of reports can be accessed via the Durham Safeguarding 
Adults Partnership website. The reports being supported by a 
presentation to AWHOSC outlining the salient points.  

Executive summary 

3 The Care Act 2014 outlines the requirement upon Safeguarding Adults 
Boards (SABs) to publish an annual report. 

4 This is the seventh Annual Report which provides information about the 
achievements and challenges during the year 2021/2022. 

Page 121

Agenda Item 9

http://www.safeguardingdurhamadults.info/article/18022/About-us-
http://www.safeguardingdurhamadults.info/article/18022/About-us-


5 Key data relating to safeguarding activity is included and based upon 1st 
April 2021 to 31st March 2022. Safeguarding adults data is also 
published within NHS Digital Statutory Safeguarding Adults Collection. 

6 The Annual Report outlines the DSAP progress in line with its vision 
and strategic priorities. 

7 In July 2021, the DSAP agreed to produce the Annual Report conveyed 
as a You Tube video accessible via its website. The aim was to 
increase the attractiveness and accessibility with to improving the 
uptake of key safeguarding messages for County Durham. 

8 The Annual Report includes headline messages of the learning from 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews as well as partners’ contributions to the 
work of the partnership. 

9 Content of the Annual Report encompasses: 

 Key points 

 Chair’s foreword and introduction  

 The local picture 

 Our vision and partners  

 Safeguarding Adult Reviews 

 Strategic plan and priorities 

 Safeguarding issues relating to Covid-19 recovery 

 Professional and community engagement 

 Quality assurance and the Safeguarding Adults Collection data 

 Looking ahead 

 Partner assurance 
 

Recommendation(s) 

10 Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
recommended to: 

(a) Receive the Durham Safeguarding Adults Partnership Annual 
Report suite for 2021/2022 and note the progress made by the 
partnership. 

(b) Note the future work of the Durham Safeguarding Adults 
Partnership. 

  

Page 122

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-collections-and-data-sets/data-collections/social-care-collection-materials-2022/safeguarding-adults-collection
https://youtu.be/NEt1l20VGlw


Background 

11 The DSAP regularly reviews its strategic plans. Its current plan was 
agreed in September 2020 and reviewed in 2021 with partners taking a 
renewed focus upon the Coronavirus (Covid-19) recovery. The plan has 
three agreed priorities: 

(a) Reflect upon the learning from Covid-19 and inform new ways of 
working; 

(b) Seek assurance from agencies and use that information to 
strengthen safeguarding; 

(c) Share key messages with our community, our networks and work 
co-productively with adults. 
 

12 The DSAP Annual Report is minded to its vision to support adults at risk 
of harm to prevent abuse happening and when it does occur, to act 
swiftly to achieve good outcomes, consulting with the Local Healthwatch 
as a source of support to inform DSAP activity. The Local Healthwatch 
were consulted in relation to its revised strategic plan.  

Safeguarding Adults Assurance  

13 The proceeding section outlines highlight messages that offer a level of 
assurance to AWHOSC and of safeguarding activity during 2021/2022. 

14 Under the Care Act 2014, the Partnership should undertake 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) when certain criteria are met, for 
example, when an adult with care and support needs has died or been 
seriously harmed, and there are concerns about how partners worked 
together to protect the adult. SARs give a focus upon what can be learnt 
about improving practice, what worked well, and about cooperation 
between organisations. SARs are not about blaming any individual or 
organisation. 

15 During the year four completed SARs were reported to the partnership. 
A further three SARs were completed during the period for onward 
reporting into 2022/2023. 

16 Examples of emerging themes from the SARs include working with 
adults reluctant to engage and who self-neglect; application of the 
Mental Capacity Act; and effective Risk Assessment. 

17 As a consequence, the DSAP held key events for practitioners in 
safeguarding week 2021/2022, dedicated sessions for partners, and a 
range of practitioner briefings, newsflashes and ebulletins. The DSAP is 
committed to and keen to hear the ‘voice of practitioners’ and we 
therefore issued a survey of practitioners to help inform our future offer.  

Page 123



18 Further activity related to the emerging themes from SARs has included 
a multi-agency training and workshop offer, partnership development 
days, and a range of published briefings such as professional curiosity, 
and ‘The Mental Capacity Act: what good looks like’ suite of resources. 
Dedicated and commissioned training was secured for Safeguarding 
Adults Week 2021 to take forward the learning from some of those 
reviews. 

19 The DSAP has addressed other nationally emerging themes with 
briefings and awareness raising activity, covering a range of topics, 
including Do Not Attempt Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (DNACPR), 
Carers Week, Deaf Awareness Week and Closed/Toxic Cultures 
training to be delivered by the Independent Chair of the partnership. 
The Domestic Abuse briefing was revisited to include key messages for 
supporting adults with dementia who may be a victim of such abuse. 

20 A key focus was given to the use and application of the Mental Capacity 
Act (2005), Covid-19 vaccination considerations, and embedding 
human rights into safeguarding adults training offers. 

21 The DSAP held its second virtual safeguarding week in conjunction with 
the Safe Durham Partnership, with 259 attendances across 23 online 
sessions on a range of topics. The week-long event served as platform 
to launch a new animation ‘Tricky Friends’. The resource is a three-
minute film to help people to understand what good friendships are, 
when they might be harmful, and what they can do. It raises awareness 
of issues such as exploitation, county lines, and home invasion (often 
known as cuckooing). The film aims to support and empower adults to 
speak to someone they trust when 'something is not right'.  

22 During 2021/2022 there were 39,487 visits to the DSAP website and 
1,227 visits to the ‘report abuse’ page.  

23 The DSAP placed a focus upon identifying hidden victims during the 
pandemic. In March 2021, and with the support of the Association of 
Directors for Adult Social Services North East (ADASS NE) a regional 
(covering 12 local authorities) radio campaign with focus on financial 
abuse, psychological abuse, and physical abuse, took place designed 
to reach people who may not use or have access to social media. 

24 There were 26 core training courses delivered through 2021-2022, with 
289 delegates attending. The DSAP Level 1 Workbook (Raising a 
Concern) was completed by 818 delegates for the same period. With a 
revised version issued in March 2022. 

 

Page 124

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=CCd8_JBy4qU&feature=youtu.be


25 Reported safeguarding concerns returned to levels pre-pandemic during 
2021/2022 with an average of 181 reports a week. As a partnership this 
offers assurance that reports have continued to be submitted. Not all 
reports require a safeguarding response. 

26 When adults are at risk of or experiencing abuse Durham County 
Council Adult and Health Services may need to trigger the duty to 
undertake a safeguarding enquiry (Section 42 of the Care Act 2014).  A 
key element of that safeguarding practice is to place emphasis upon the 
‘voice of adults’. People in receipt of safeguarding services are asked 
‘what they would like to happen’. The DSAP is assured that the voice of 
adults is central to its safeguarding practice. From the year end data of 
adults or their representatives who were asked and expressed desired 
outcomes, 93 per cent (1,420/1,525 concluded enquiries) had their 
outcomes fully (75 per cent) or partially (18 per cent) met.   

27 The DSAP were further assured about practice where risk was 
identified, in that risk was reduced or removed for 85 per cent 
(1,700/2,010) of concluded enquiries. There will always be a percentage 
of enquiries where the ‘risk remains’ following a safeguarding 
intervention and this can be linked to the autonomous decision making 
of adults who may choose to live with a level of risk.   

Looking Ahead 

28 The DSAP will continue its focus into 2022/23 on priorities of raising 
awareness and improving practice particularly in relation to self-neglect, 
professional curiosity, closed/toxic organisational cultures and proper 
use of the Mental Capacity Act. 

29 The DSAP published the Executive Summary of the Whorlton Hall 
Safeguarding Adults Review in line with legal considerations on 6th 
December 2022. The review findings place a lens upon national 
learning. The DSAP will collectively explore the findings from that 
review early in 2023 and take forward any local activity.  

30 The partnership will maintain its focus upon key learning opportunities 
and strengthening its safeguarding offer, inclusive of closed cultures 
training. 

31 Furthermore, it will strengthen its wider community related activities 
inclusive of empowerment activity and will engage a community 
reference group for co-production work as well as delivering community-
based engagement events in 2023. 

Conclusion 

32 The Annual Report provides a comprehensive overview of the work of 
the DSAP during 2021/22 and the priorities for 2022/23. 

Page 125



Background papers 

None 

Other useful documents 

None 

Author(s) 

Heidi Gibson    Tel:  03000 267965 

  

Page 126



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Care 2014 states that Safeguarding Adults Boards must publish an 

annual report and strategic plan, and that the report should outline its progress 

against that that plan as well as learning from Safeguarding Adult Reviews. 

Finance 

Continuing financial pressures on public services remain a challenge for 

member agencies and contributory partners of the DSAP. The DSAP monitors 

and risk and challenges through its governance arrangements, including 

business continuity. Durham County Council ensure it includes any such 

areas in those arrangements. 

Consultation 

The annual report is consulted upon with all partner agencies. It consults with 

the local Healthwatch on its strategic plan. The DSAP offers opportunity to 

partner agencies to submit an annual overview of their own contributions to 

the work of the DSAP for inclusion within the annual report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Adult safeguarding is linked to and covered in DSAP policies and procedures 

with equalities impact assessments undertaken when and where appropriate. 

Climate Change 

The DSAP Business Unit is minded to the impact of climate change and aims 

to reduce its carbon footprint where possible. Emissions due to DSAP activity 

are in line with other County Council activity. For this report they include 

power use due to online processing and storage; and heating, lighting, and 

other emissions by use of staff both homeworking and office working in line 

with the Council hybrid working model.  

Human Rights 

Human rights is a fundamental element of the DSAP core activity. The DSAP 

and relevant partners within the context of safeguarding adults should 

continue to ensure that they are embedded in policy and practice. 

Crime and Disorder 

Adult safeguarding is linked to and covered within the DSAP policies and 

procedures. There is a close working relationship with the Safe Durham 

Partnership and working arrangements across agencies and broader 

Page 127



partnership including but not limited to the County Durham Anti-Slavery 

Network. Durham Constabulary is a statutory partner of the DSAP.  

Staffing 

The sustaining of adult safeguarding activities requires continued priority to 

staffing to ensure adequate resource is maintained. The continued 

contribution to staffing from partner agencies is supportive of a dedicated 

support function to the DSAP, there can be continued pressure for capacity 

within the staffing function when unforeseen situations arise. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

The risks associated with not appropriately managing responses to 

safeguarding are extremely high and include risks of ongoing abuse and 

neglect and the risk of serious organisational and/or reputational damage to 

statutory and non-statutory organisations in County Durham. 

The DSAP puts considerable effort into training and awareness raising to 

ensure that abuse and neglect is recognised and reported. Screening of all 

reported concerns takes place, and they are directed appropriately to ensure 

the most appropriate response is taken.  

Any risks identified under the umbrella of the DSAP is updated within a risk 

and challenge log which is reviewed quarterly. The impact of training is 

regularly explored and is reported annually. Partner agencies of the DSAP are 

committed to improvement activity. In 2021-2022 Durham County Council and 

North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board (NENCICB and formerly 

Clinical Commissioning Group, CCG) and wider partners participated and 

contributed to ‘three reflective learning events’ with a view to strengthening 

multi-agency working and prevention of risk to adults.  

Procurement 

The adoption of safeguarding principles in the procurement of health and 

social care services is essential. An example is the DSAP support for Durham 

County Council checking supply chains for modern slavery and a focus upon 

safeguarding within regionally agreed procurement frameworks for 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews. 

  

Page 128



Appendix 2:  DSAP Annual Report on a Page 2021-2022 

 

See attached (or website link to document). 

 

 

  

Page 129

http://www.safeguardingdurhamadults.info/media/41371/DSAP-Annual-Report-2021-22-on-a-Page/pdf/DSAPAnnualReport202122OnAPage.pdf?m=638061746480930000


Appendix 3:  DSAP Easy Read Annual Report 2021-2022 

 

See attached (or website link to document) 

 

 

Page 130

http://www.safeguardingdurhamadults.info/media/41356/DSAP-Annual-Report-2021-to-2022-easy-read/pdf/DSAP_Annual_Report_2021_to_2022_easy_read_FINAL.pdf?m=638060195251100000


DSAP Annual Report on a 
Page 2021/22

Our Vision: We will support adults at risk of harm to prevent abuse happening; when it does occur, we will act swiftly to 
achieve good outcomes and we will consult with the Local Healthwatch as a source of support to inform DSAP activity

420,800* adults live 
in County Durham

111,300** are adults 
over 65

3,855 people had 
home care

Paid for or 
arranged by DCC

@ 31.03.2022
3,151 people were 

living in a care home

* Source – ONS Census March 2021 extrapolated estimates ** Source – ONS Census March 2021

Safeguarding Adults in County Durham

9,43 concerns 
reported 

2,955
enquiries

made

233 enquiries
required the 

specialist adult
protection team

85%
Risk 

removed or 
reduced

Places of 
abuse

48% 
Own home

41% 
Care home

When adult lacked capacity, supported by 

advocate, family or friends in 48% of enquiries

When given, wished for outcomes met 

in 93% of enquiries

Audits and Assurance

Statutory 
Partners

Regular assurance 
meetings

Strategic Plan on a Page supported response to Covid-19
Three dynamic strands of work

Reflections and Innovations

Safeguarding Assurance

Communications and Engagement

2 Online 
Development 
Sessions for 
DSAP partners

Rewritten Safeguarding 
Adult Review (SAR) 
Protocol, 
SAR panel met remotely, 
online learning

Reviewed at end of year to focus on resilience and recovery

Support for good practice Joint Safeguarding week 2021    DSAP SDP DCA

259 Places taken up 23 online sessions 12 speakers 11 resources and films signposted

Online Training (November onwards)

289 attended DSAP multi-agency
online training

818 completed Raising a Concern 
Workbook

69 attended Disclosure and Barring 
Service events

We asked our attendees

      Event participants rated 4.5 out 5      Training participants rated 4.7 out of 5

We published

66 DSAP e-
bulletins

26 Trainer’s e-
bulletins

7 awareness 
day bulletins 4 Newsletters

3 In our new series of 
MCA guides

2 Single topic briefings 
for practitioners

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Durham Safeguarding Adults Partnership 
Annual Report 2021 to 2022

Message from Lesley Jeavons  

My name is Lesley Jeavons and I am the 
Independent Chair of the Durham 
Safeguarding Adults Partnership. 

The Partnership is made up of people from 
social care, health services, the police, and 
others. 

They work together to help keep people 
safe from harm, abuse and neglect.

This is our Annual Report. It is about the 
work of the Partnership in 2021 to 2022. It 
shows what we have done to keep people 
safe from harm, abuse and neglect.   

Page 133



2 

What did we do in 2021 to 2022? 

We carried on working in a new way 
because of the Covid-19 pandemic and 
social distancing. 

We held an online Safeguarding Week to 
tell people about safeguarding and about
abuse and neglect.  

We launched Tricky Friends, a film.to 
support and empower people tell someone 
if ‘something’s not right’.

We trained staff and volunteers using 
online Microsoft Teams and workbooks. 

We listened to the views of people who 
use services. 

We shared information about the Mental 
Capacity Act, Autism Acceptance Week, 
Carers Week, and lots more.  

Page 134



3 

We have worked with others to help 
protect people from scams and financial 
abuse during Coronavirus.   

  

We have been working on our website to 
make it better. 
www.safeguardingdurhamadults.info

Durham County Council Adult and Health 
Services have carried on the project to 
help providers to improve services. 
  

We have updated some of our guidance 
and policies. 

We will continue to learn from 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews to help us 
improve our work.   

In 2019 there was a BBC programme  
about Whorlton Hall. We worked on the 
Safeguarding Adult Review about it during 
this year and shared learning from it. 

Page 135



4 

What will we do in 2022 to 2023? 

In the next year we will carry on looking at 
the impact of Coronavirus.  

We will carry on our Safeguarding Adult 
Reviews. This includes more of the 
learning from Whorlton Hall.

We will train staff and volunteers and   
 share updates on our website. 

We will continue to share messages about 
safeguarding. 

We will improve our guidance and 
documents. 

We will look at different ways to hear the 
voice of adults who use services, to help 
us to better understand abuse and 
neglect. 

Page 136



5 

We will plan an empowerment campaign in 
co-production with adults about what 
stopping abuse means to them. 

What to do if you are worried that someone is being 
abused or neglected? 

If abuse or neglect is happening to you, or 
you are frightened of someone, or if 
someone tells you they have been abused 
call Social Care Direct on 03000 26 79 79. 

Social Care Direct will listen to you and 
you will be taken seriously. Please do not 
worry your details will be kept private.

If you are in danger call the police on 999
first before calling Social Care Direct. 

You might like to watch Tricky Friends, a film to support 
and empower people to tell someone if ‘something’s not 
right’. Click on Tricky Friends Video on YouTube

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Report 2021 to 2022
Presented to Adults, Wellbeing and Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

16th January 2023

P
age 139



Purpose

To present to the Adults, 

Wellbeing and Overview 

Scrutiny committee the 

Annual Report for 

2021/2022 of the Durham 

Safeguarding Adults 

Partnership.

To present the 

accompanying suite of 

documents, Report on a 

Page and Easy Read.

P
age 140

https://youtu.be/NEt1l20VGlw?t=3


The Care Act 2014

The Care Act 2014 outlines the 
requirement upon Safeguarding 

Adults Boards (SABs) to publish an 

annual report.

The report should offer a level of 

assurance of the partnership’s activity 

throughout 2021-2022.

P
age 141



Our vision:

We will support adults at risk of harm to 

prevent abuse happening. When it 

does occur, we will act swiftly to 

achieve good outcomes and we will 

consult with the Local Healthwatch as a 

source of support to inform DSAP 

activity

P
age 142



Safeguarding Adults Reviews

Under the Care Act 2014, the Partnership should undertake 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) when certain criteria is 

met, for example, an adult with care and support needs 

has either died or has been seriously harmed, and there 

are concerns about how partners worked together to 

protect the adult

SARs give a focus upon what can be learnt about 

improving practice, what worked well, and about 

cooperation between organisations. SARs are not 

about blaming any individual or organisation

4 SARs were reported to the partnership during 2021/22

3 SARs were completed with ongoing reporting 

to the partnership into 2022/2023 and 1 SAR 

nearing completion at year endP
age 143



Safeguarding Adults Reviews

All actions from SARs are monitored by a local panel 

of partner agencies for emerging themes and progress

Examples of themes include, working with adults 
reluctant to engage, application of the Mental Capacity 

Act and effective Risk Assessment

Responses to emerged themes included DSAP key events for 

practitioners during safeguarding week 2021/2022, dedicated 

sessions for partners and a range of practitioner briefings, 

newsflashes and e-bulletins.

Proper use and application of the Mental Capacity Act 

2005 and a ‘what good looks like’ suite of resources. 

A range of practitioner briefings as well as training on 

Closed/Toxic Cultures to be delivered by the Independent 

Chair.

P
age 144



Professional and community 

engagement

Safeguarding Week 2021

259 attendances

23 online live sessions delivered and 

launch of new animation ‘tricky friends’

11 resources webinars and briefings shared

P
age 145

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=CCd8_JBy4qU&feature=youtu.be


Professional and community 

engagement

How we promoted messages

We monitored our website which 

had 39,487 website visits

There were 1,227 visits to the 

‘report abuse’ webpage

P
age 146



Professional and community 

engagement

How we promoted messages

In March 2021 the Association of Directors for 

Adult Social Services North East  (ADASS NE)  
supported a regional radio campaign focussed 

on

designed to reach people who may 

not use or have access to social 

media; this continued into April 2021

financial 

abuse

psychological 

abuse

physical 
abuse

P
age 147



Strategic plan and priorities

During the year our multi-agency training 

programme was converted to online delivery

Multi-agency training

26 core multi-agency courses were delivered, 

and 289 places were taken up (some participants 

attend more than one course)

We awarded 818 certificates to people 

who completed the Raising a Concern 

Workbook and passed the assessment

P
age 148



Quality assurance and the 

Safeguarding Adults Collection data

2019/20, 12,708 Safeguarding concerns 

(an average of 244 per week)

Reported safeguarding adults 

concerns and safeguarding enquiries

2020/21, 9,502 Safeguarding concerns 

(an average of 182 per week)

2021/22, 9,431 Safeguarding concerns 

(an average of 181 per week)P
age 149



Making Safeguarding Personal

When adults are at risk or experiencing abuse 

or neglect Durham County Council Adult and 

Health Services may trigger the duty to 

undertake a safeguarding enquiry (Section 42 

of the Care Act 2014) 

There is an emphasis upon the ‘voice of 

adults’. People are asked ‘what they would 

like to happen’

93 per cent (1420/1525 concluded 

enquiries) had their outcomes fully (75 per 

cent) or partially (18 per cent) met. 

P
age 150



Further assurance

85 per cent of cases (1700/2010 

concluded enquiries) risk was reduced or 

removed.

This means that for every 100 concluded 

safeguarding enquiries where risk was 

identified, it was removed or reduced in 85
cases

This is in line with the national figure of 91 

cases. There will always be a number 
where ‘risk remains’ and is linked to 

autonomous decision making of adults. P
age 151



Looking ahead

The Partnership will continue to focus on 

priorities of raising awareness and 
improving practice particularly in relation to 

learning from SARs, especially the 

application of the Mental Capacity Act

Partnership Focus

The Partnership will ensure that key learning 

opportunities are accessible in 2022/23 

related to other local SAR themes

Ongoing work in relation to self-neglect, 

professional curiosity and closed/toxic

organisational cultures will continue into 

2022/2023.

P
age 152



Looking ahead

There was an ongoing complex 

Safeguarding Adults Review into Whorlton 
Hall nearing completion 2021/2022. The 

partnership agreed to publish the Executive 

Summary in 2022 and following usual 

process and legal considerations. 

Ongoing SARs

The review findings place a lens on national 

learning. The DSAP will collectively explore 

the findings from that review early in 2023 
and take forward any local activity.P

age 153



Looking ahead

Making Safeguarding Personal ensures that 

adults are central in safeguarding adults

We will continue to engage 

with adults in the future

We will strengthen community related 

activities, through community reference 
groups for coproduction and 

community engagement events. 

Our aim is to support all client 

groups to be ‘empowered’ to 

report abuse and neglect

P
age 154



What practitioners told us

Well-paced and contained the 

appropriate level of information

very interesting, a good mix of case 

studies/activity work and theory
really summed up the 

importance of advocacy

I really like the way the course has 

been broken into 2 morning sessions 

as has given me time to think about 

the information I learnt this morning

Extremely informative, there was a lot 

of information and very complex 

cases which really made you think. 

Really enjoyed the session

Very well delivered / 

Clear / Relevant

Excellent. I will send all of my key 

team on this course. Thank you

I think I need to do a lot more research 

into certain areas to inform my team’s 

practice, ensure other members of 

team are up to speed. Linkage 

between under 18s and over 18s

Useful tools and checklists

P
age 155



The voice of the adult and the 

difference made

People being supported and encouraged to 

make their own decisions and informed consent

Illustrating the Empowerment Principle and 

Making Safeguarding Personal, supporting 

the adult to be in control. Identifying details 

have been changed

Peter is 73, living in his own home, alone 

after his wife died 7 years ago. Peter has 

some difficulties due to a stroke

P
age 156



The voice of the adult and the 

difference made

A safeguarding adults enquiry took 

place due to concerns raised by 

police about financial abuse and 
domestic abuse

Peter said he wanted the money to send to his 

friend, Julie. He has known Julie online for the 

last 12 years and estimates he has sent her 

£25,000, £5,000 from a loan, for, he says, her 

rent, furniture, and flooring. Peter met Julie once 
last year and she wanted him to move to hers in 

Birmingham and marry

P
age 157



Peter described a sense of relief 
having taken control, and that he 

wants no further contact with Julie

The voice of the adult and the 

difference made

With the Bank he has arranged that any 

funds that are attempted to be 

transferred from Peter's account to Julie's 

accounts are blocked by the bank

Peter considered further support from a 

befriending service and his brother in 

Darlington and decided he would contact his 

brother if he wanted to speak to anyone

Peter said he wanted to stop sending money. 

Given the support Peter decided to take 

control of the situation, making all the 

decisions in the future. He blocked Julie from 

Facebook, and changed his contact numbers 

and email.

P
age 158



The voice of the adult and the 

difference made

“I don’t have to worry about moving to 

Birmingham to live with Julie and what I’d do 

with all my stuff. It’s been on my mind ever 

since I visited Julie and she asked me to move. 

I feel a great sense of relief now I’ve taken 

control of the situation”

“I think I’ve been easily led, I sent money 

believing I was helping a friend”.

P
age 159



You can view the full suite of reports 

at 
About us - Durham Safeguarding Adults 

(safeguardingdurhamadults.info)

P
age 160

http://www.safeguardingdurhamadults.info/article/18022/About-us-

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2022
	6 Proposed Oral Health Promotion Strategy County Durham - Report and presentation by Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham
	Agenda Item 6 - Oral Health Promotion Strategy 2023 OSC presentation 16.01.23

	7 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 - Report and presentation by Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham
	Agenda Item 7 - OSC Appendix 2 DPH Annual Report 2022
	Foreword
	Health and wellbeing across County Durham 
	Living with COVID-19
	Making smoking history 
	Priorities 
	Update on recommendations from 2021
	Conclusion 

	Agenda Item 7 - DPH AR Presentation - OSC 16 Jan 23

	8 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2022 - Joint Report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and the Director of Public Health
	Agenda Item 8 - HWB Annual Report - Appendix 2_
	Agenda Item 8 - OSC HWB Annual Report presentation_v3

	9 Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022 - Report and presentation of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
	Agenda Item 9 - Appendix 2 - DSAP Annual Report on a Page 2021-2022 - AWHOSC - 2023-01-16
	Agenda Item 9 - Appendix 3 - DSAP Easy Read Annual Report 2021-2022 - AWHOSC - 2023-01-16
	Agenda Item 9 - DSAP Annual Report - AWHOSC 2022.01.16


